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UNITED STATES
SECURITIES AND EXCHANGE COMMISSION
WASHINGTON, D.C. 20549

FORM 10-Q
QUARTERLY REPORT PURSUANT TO SECTION 13 OR 15(d) OF THE SECURITIES EXCHANGE ACT
OF 1934
For the quarterly period ended March 31, 2015
OR
O TRANSITION REPORT PURSUANT TO SECTION 13 OR 15(d) OF THE SECURITIES EXCHANGE ACT
OF 1934
For the transition period from to
Commission File Number 000-50513
ACORDA THERAPEUTICS, INC.
(Exact name of registrant as specified in its arart
Delaware 13-3831168
(State or other jurisdiction of incorporation (I.R.S. Employer
or organization Identification No.)
420 Saw Mill River Road, Ardsley, New York 10502
(Address of principal executive office (Zip Code)

(914) 347-4300
(Registrant’s telephone number,
including area code)

Indicate by check mark whether the registrant €l filed all reports required to be filed by Secti or 15(d) of the Securities
Exchange Act of 1934 during the preceding 12 mofah$or such shorter period that the registrans wemjuired to file such reports), and
(2) has been subject to such filing requirementsife past 90 days. YexI No O

Indicate by check mark whether the registrant lasmstted electronically and posted on its corpokdeb site, if any, every
Interactive Data File required to be submitted pasted pursuant to Rule 405 of Regulatiol &232.405 of this chapter) during the precet
12 months (or for such shorter period that thestegt was required to submit and post such filés. No O

Indicate by check mark whether the registrantlezge accelerated filer, an accelerated filer, &accelerated filer, or a smaller
reporting company. See the definitions of “largeederated filer,” “accelerated filer” and “smalle@porting company” in Rule 12b-2 of the
Exchange Act.

Large accelerated fileix] Accelerated filerOd Non-accelerated fileid Smaller Reporting Compania
(Do not check if a
smaller reporting compan

Indicate by check mark whether the registrantsbell company (as defined in Rule 12b-2 of the Exge Act). Yedd No
Indicate the number of shares outstanding of ehtitedssuer’s classes of common stock, as ofdtest practicable date.
Class Outstanding at April 30, 2015

Common Stock, $0.001 par value 42,790,888 shares
per share




This Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q contains forwdodking statements relating to future events amdfoture
performance within the meaning of Section 27A ®fSbcurities Act of 1933, as amended, and SectiBrofthe Securitie
Exchange Act of 1934, as amended. Stockholdersaationed that such statements involve risks ameainties,
including: The ability to realize the benefits iaigated from the Civitas Therapeutics, Inc. tracigan and to successfully
integrate Civitas's operations into our operatioosy ability to successfully market and sell Ampyrghe U.S.; third party paye
(including governmental agencies) may not reimbéms¢he use of Ampyra or our other products ategatable rates or at all and
may impose restrictive prior authorization requiremts that limit or block prescriptions; the riskugifavorable results from futu
studies of Ampyra or from our other research angettgpment programs, including CVT-301, Plumiazamy other acquired or
in-licensed programs; we may not be able to corepdetvelopment of, obtain regulatory approval farseccessfully market CVT-
301, Plumiaz, or any other products under develapinwee may need to raise additional funds to fireonar expanded operations
and may not be able to do so on acceptédiens; the occurrence of adverse safety eventsowitiproducts; delays in obtaining
failure to obtain regulatory approval of or to sessfully market Fampyra outside of the U.S. anddeypendence on ol
collaboration partner Bioge in connection therewitiompetition; failure to protect our intellectupfoperty, to defend against the
intellectual property claims of others or to obtdird party intellectual property licenses neededthe commercialization of our
products; and failure to comply with regulatory tegements could result in adverse action by regulatgencies. These forwe
looking statements are based on current expectsitiestimates, forecasts and projections aboutrttlestry and markets in which
we operate and management’s beliefs and assumpfdirgatements, other than statements of hisabfcts, included in this
report regarding our strategy, future operationsture financial position, future revenues, project®sts, prospects, plans and
objectives of management are forward-looking stetes) The words “anticipates,” “believes,” “estimed,” “expects,”

“intends,” “may,” “plans,” “projects,” “will,” “wou Id,” and similar expressions are intended to idgnforward-looking
statements, although not all forward-looking statais contain these identifying words. Actual ressaltevents could differ
materially from the plans, intentions and expeotasi disclosed in the forward-looking statementsna&e, and investors should
not place undue reliance on these statements.ditiad to the risks and uncertainties described\ahave have included
important factors in the cautionary statementshiis report and in our Annual Report on Form 10-Kttee year ended
December 31, 2014, particularly in tRisk Factors” section, that we believe could caastual results or events to differ
materially from the forward-looking statements tthet make. Our forwaréboking statements do not reflect the potentialaott
any future acquisitions, mergers, dispositiongj@entures or investments that we may make. Fehhaoking statements in this
report are made only as of the date hereof, andleveot assume any obligation to publicly update famward4ooking statemen
as a result of developments occurring after the ddtthis report.

We and our subsidiaries own several registereddnaarks in the U.S. and in other countries. Theggstered
trademarks include, in the U.S., the marks “Acofdeerapeutics,” our stylized Acorda TherapeuticsdptAmpyra,” “Zanaflex,”
“Zanaflex Capsules,” “Qutenza” and “ARCUS.” Also@ur mark “Fampyra” is a registered mark in the Eymean Community
Trademark Office and we have registrations or pegdipplications for this mark in other jurisdictisn Our trademark portfolio
also includes several registered trademarks andipentrademark applications (e.g., “Plumiaz”) ingHJ.S. and worldwide for
potential product names or for disease awarenetigiies. Third party trademarks, trade names, aedvice marks used in tt
report are the property of their respective owners.
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PART |
Item 1. Financial Statements
ACORDA THERAPEUTICS, INC. AND SUBSIDIARIES

Consolidated Balance Sheets

March 31, December 31,
(In thousands, except share data) 2015 2014
(unaudited)
Assets
Current asset:
Cash and cash equivale! $ 61,51 $ 182,171
Restricted cas 1,24z 1,20¢
Shor-term investment 238,18: 125,44
Trade accounts receivable, net of allowances 09 %l $771, as of March 31, 2015 and December@H#,2
respectively 30,55 32,21
Prepaid expense 19,05( 15,52
Finished goods inventory held by the Comp 45,26¢ 26,25¢
Finished goods inventory held by oth 563 581
Deferred tax asst 20,46¢ 18,42(
Other current assets 6,99¢ 7,32¢
Total current asse 423,83t 409,13t
Property and equipment, net of accumulated defregi 45,91¢ 46,09(
Goodwill 182,95: 182,95:
Intangible assets, net of accumulated amortiz: 432,15! 432,82:
Non-current portion of deferred cost of license reve 3,381 3,54(
Restricted cas 4,80¢ —
Other assets 5,93( 6,131
Total assets $ 1,09898 $ 1,080,67
Liabilities and Stockholders’ Equity
Current liabilities:
Accounts payabl $ 21,88¢ $ 17,75:
Accrued expenses and other current liabili 60,20¢ 56,11¢
Deferred product reven—Zanaflex 29,12: 29,42(
Current portion of deferred license revel 9,057 9,057
Current portion of revenue interest liabil 74¢ 89:¢
Current portion of convertible notes payable 1,14¢ 1,14¢
Total current liabilities 122,16} 114,38
Convertible senior notes (due 20: 289,60° 287,69¢
Acquired contingent consideratis 55,70( 52,60(
Non-current portion of deferred license revel 48,30¢ 50,57(
Non-current portion of convertible notes paya 1,05¢ 2,18¢
Deferred tax liability 23,88t 23,88t
Other nor-current liabilities 9,241 9,10z
Commitments and contingenci
Stockholder' equity:
Common stock, $0.001 par value. Authorized 80,00 ghares at March 31, 2015 and December 31, 28si#d and
outstanding 42,797,996 and 41,883,843 sharesdimguhose held in treasury, as of March 31, 20ib a
December 31, 2014, respectivi 43 42
Treasury stock at cost (12,420 shares at MarcR@®15 and December 31, 201 (329 (329
Additional paic-in capital 772,89: 761,02¢
Accumulated defici (223,49)) (220,410)
Accumulated other comprehensive income (92) (74)
Total stockholders’ equity 549,02( 540,25!
Total liabilities and stockholders’ equity $ 1,098,98. $ 1,080,67

See accompanying Unaudited Notes to ConsolidateahEial Statements




ACORDA THERAPEUTICS, INC. AND SUBSIDIARIES

Consolidated Statements of Operations

(unaudited)
Three-month Three-month
period ended period ended
(In thousands, except per share data) March 31,2015  March 31, 2014
Revenues
Net product revenue $ 93,50 $ 74,46
Royalty revenue 4,08 3,791
License revenue 2,264 2,26¢
Total net revenue 99,85! 80,51¢
Costs and expense
Cost of sale: 18,44¢ 15,52¢
Cost of license revent 15¢ 15¢
Research and developme 30,63¢ 14,52:
Selling, general and administrati 48,76¢ 46,89:.
Changes in fair value of acquired contingent cogrsition 3,10( —
Total operating expenses 101,11( 77,10:
Operating (loss) income (1,259 3,41¢
Other (expense) income, n
Interest and amortization of debt discount exp (4,05)) (92
Interest incom 66 172
Other income 121 —
Total other (expense) income, net (3,869 8C
(Loss) income before tax (5,129 3,49¢
(Provision for) benefit from income taxes 2,03¢ (2,797%)
Net (loss) income $ (3,085 $ 703
Net (loss) income per sh—basic $ (0.079) $ 0.0z
Net (loss) income per sh—diluted $ (0.07) $ 0.0z
Weighted average common shares outstanding usadrputing net (loss) income per st—basic 42,03 40,93¢
Weighted average common shares outstanding usedriputing net (loss) income per st—diluted 42,03: 42,23t

See accompanying Unaudited Notes to ConsolidateahEial Statements




ACORDA THERAPEUTICS, INC. AND SUBSIDIARIES

Consolidated Statements of Comprehensive Income (ks)

(unaudited)
Three-month Three-month
period ended period ended
(In thousands) March 31, 2015  March 31, 2014
Net (loss) incom $ (3,085 3 70z
Other comprehensive (loss) incon
Unrealized (losses) gains on available-for-salesiées, net of tax (17) 45
Other comprehensive (loss) income, net of tax (17) 45
Comprehensive (loss) income $ (3,109 $ 74¢

See accompanying Unaudited Notes to ConsolidateahEial Statements




ACORDA THERAPEUTICS, INC. AND SUBSIDIARIES

Consolidated Statements of Cash Flows

(unaudited)
Three-month Three-month
period ended period ended
(In thousands) March 31,2015  March 31, 2014
Cash flows from operating activitie
Net (loss) incomt $ (3,087 $ 703
Adjustments to reconcile net (loss) income to reshc(used in) provided by operating activit
Shar-based compensation expel 7,12¢ 5,75i
Amortization of net premiums and discounts on itwvests 551 73t
Amortization of debt discount and debt issuancés 2,10z —
Amortization of revenue interest issuance ¢ 6 8
Depreciation and amortization expel 3,707 1,75¢
Change in acquired contingent consideration olitige 3,10¢ —
Loss on put/call liability — 2C
Deferred tax (benefit) provisic (2,039 2,821
Changes in assets and liabiliti
Decrease in accounts receiva 1,65¢ 1,51¢
(Increase) decrease in prepaid expenses and affrentasset (3,199 1,031
Increase in inventory held by the Comp: (19,019) (5,010
Decrease in inventory held by oth 17 28
Decrease in nc-current portion of deferred cost of license reve 15¢ 15¢
Decrease in other assi 8 8
Increase (decrease) in accounts payable, accryeshsas, other current liabiliti 7,09¢ (1,774
Decrease in revenue interest liability interestaidg (42) (34¢)
Decrease in nc-current portion of deferred license revel (2,264 (2,264
Increase in other n-current liabilities — 9
Decrease in deferred product reve—Zanaflex (300 (879%)
(Increase) decrease in restricted cash (4,846 18
Net cash (used in) provided by operating activi (9,250 4,30¢
Cash flows from investing activitie
Purchases of property and equipm (2,57)) (942)
Purchases of intangible ass (152 (1,199
Purchases of investmer (169,567) (93,79
Proceeds from maturities of investments 56,25( 84,50(
Net cash used in investing activiti (116,03¢) (12,43°)
Cash flows from financing activitie
Proceeds from issuance of common stock and opkiercises 4,741 3,662
Repayments of revenue interest liability (110 (212)
Net cash provided by financing activities 4,631 3,45(
Net (decrease) in cash and cash equiva (120,65%) (3,682
Cash and cash equivalents at beginning of period 182,17( 48,03"
Cash and cash equivalents at end of period $ 61,51t $ 44 35!
Supplemental disclosur
Cash paid for intere: 462 41F
Cash paid for taxe 743 46(

See accompanying Unaudited Notes to ConsolidateahEial Statements




ACORDA THERAPEUTICS, INC. AND SUBSIDIARIES
Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements
(unaudited)
(1) Organization and Business Activities

Acorda Therapeutics, Inc. (“Acorda” or the “Compgng a biopharmaceutical company dedicated tadbkatification, development
and commercialization of novel therapies that mesturological function and improve the lives ebple with neurological disorders.

Management is responsible for the accompanyingditexliinterim consolidated financial statements tnedrelated information
included in the notes to the consolidated finanstalements. In the opinion of management, theditexliinterim consolidated financial
statements reflect all adjustments, including ndmaeurring adjustments necessary for the fairgmegtion of the Companyfinancial positiol
and results of operations and cash flows for thimge presented. Results of operations for intgrémods are not necessarily indicative of the
results to be expected for the entire year.

These unaudited interim consolidated financiakstents should be read in conjunction with the addibnsolidated financial
statements of the Company as of and for the yadgdBDecember 31, 2014 included in the Company’sudhReport on Form 10-K for such
year, as filed with the Securities and Exchange Rasion (the SEC

(2) Summary of Significant Accounting Policies
Principles of Consolidation

The accompanying consolidated financial statemam$repared in accordance with accounting priasigenerally accepted in the
United States of America and include the resultspafrations of the Company and its majority owngaksgliaries. All intercompany accounts
and transactions have been eliminated in consalilat

Use of Estimates

The consolidated financial statements include oegmounts that are based on managemdmst estimates and judgments. Estin
are used in determining such items as provisiongefeates and incentives, chargebacks, and other allowances, depreciable/amortizable
lives, asset impairments, excess inventory, valnailowance on deferred taxes, purchase pricealtins and amounts recorded for
contingencies and accruals. Because of the umtggginherent in such estimates, actual resuétg differ from these estimates. Managen
periodically evaluates estimates used in the pegjoar of the consolidated financial statementgdéassonableness.

The use of forecasted financial information is i#mé in many of our accounting estimates, includingnot limited to, determining
the estimated fair value of goodwill, intangiblesets and contingent consideration, matching intdegimortization to underlying benefits (e
sales and cash inflows), establishing and evalgativentory reserves, and evaluating the needdbration allowances for deferred tax
assets. Such forecasted financial informatioromeprised of numerous assumptions regarding ourduevenues, cash flows, and operational
results. Management believes that its financieddasts are reasonable and appropriate based upentdacts and circumstances. Because
the inherent nature of forecasts, however, actsllts may differ from these forecasts. Managememnilarly reviews the information related
to these forecasts and adjusts the carrying amaditiie applicable assets prospectively, if andmdigtual results differ from previous
estimates.

I nvestments

Short-term investments consist of US Treasury bofilde Company classifies marketable securitiedaivaito fund current
operations as short-term investments in currergtass) its consolidated balance sheets. Marketalgrities are classified as long-term
investments in long-term assets on the consolidadééghce sheets if the Company has the abilityirctedt to hold them and such holding
period is longer than one year. The Company classifs short-term and long-term investments adabla-for-sale. Available-for-sale
securities are recorded at the fair value of tlrestments based on quoted market prices.




Unrealized holding gains and losses on availablesébe securities, which are determined to be teargpare excluded from earnings
and are reported as a separate component of acaiethwther comprehensive income (loss).

Premiums and discounts on investments are amorizedthe life of the related available-for-salewgity as an adjustment to yield
using the effectivanterest method. Dividend and interest income acegnized when earned. Amortized premiums and digspdividend an
interest income and realized gains and lossesakhadied in interest income.

Accumulated Other Comprehensive | ncome

The Company’s accumulated other comprehensive indgsroomprised of unrealized gains and losses aitadle for sale securities
and is recorded and presented net of income tax.

Revenue Recognition
Ampyra

Ampyra is available only through a network of spéigi pharmacy providers that provide the medicatmpatients by mail; Kaiser
Permanente, which distributes Ampyra to patientsubh a closed network of on-site pharmacies; aBb Specialty Healthcare, Inc. (an
AmerisourceBergen affiliate), which distributes Ayng to the U.S. Bureau of Prisons, the U.S. Depamtrof Defense, the U.S. Department of
Veterans Affairs, or VA, and other federal agenciampyra is not available in retail pharmacies. Twmmpany does not recognize revenue
from product sales until there is persuasive ewidast an arrangement, delivery has occurred, tive 3 fixed and determinable, the buyer is
obligated to pay the Company, the obligation to jgayot contingent on resale of the product, thgeblhas economic substance apart from the
Company, the Company has no obligation to bringiatiee sale of the product, and the amount of nstean be reasonably estimated and
collectability is reasonably assured. The Compa&apgnizes product sales of Ampyra following receigproduct by a network of specialty
pharmacy providers, Kaiser Permanente, and ASDi&lpetlealthcare, Inc. The specialty pharmacy pdevs, Kaiser Permanente, and ASD
Specialty Healthcare, Inc. are contractually oliégato hold no more than an agreed number of daiysentory, ranging from 10 to 30 days.

The Company’s net revenues represent total revdasssllowances for customer credits, includirtgrested discounts, rebates, and
chargebacks. These allowances are recorded forccasideration given by a vendor to a customerighptesumed to be a reduction of the
selling prices of the vendor’s products or serviged, therefore, are characterized as a reductioevenue. At the time product is shipped to
specialty pharmacies, Kaiser Permanente and ASbi&pyeHealthcare, Inc., an adjustment is recorideestimated discounts, rebates and
chargebacks. These allowances are established hggament as its best estimate based on availdbleniation and will be adjusted to reflect
known changes in the factors that impact such aimes. Allowances for discounts, rebates and chaols are established based on the
contractual terms with customers, historical trerdsnmunications with customers and the levelseéitory remaining in the distribution
channel, as well as expectations about the maokéhé product and anticipated introduction of cetitjve products. Product shipping and
handling costs are included in cost of sales. Thmpany does not accept returns of Ampyra withetteeption of product damages that occur
during shipping.

Zanaflex

The Company applies the revenue recognition guiglaméccounting Standards Codification (ASC) 60528, which among other
criteria requires that future returns can be reallyrestimated in order to recognize revenue. Theumt of future tablet returns is uncertain
due to generic competition and customer conversiafanaflex Capsules. The Company has accumulated sales history with Zanaflex
Capsules; however, due to existing and potentiaége competition and customer conversion from Zlardablets to Zanaflex Capsules,
management is unable to determine a return ratésaime. As a result, the Company accounts feséhproduct shipments using a deferred
revenue recognition model. Under the deferred regenodel, the Company does not recognize revenue pioduct shipment. For these
product shipments, the Company invoices the whidesacords deferred revenue at gross invoicesgalee, and classifies the cost basis of
the product held by the wholesaler as a separat@aoent of inventory. The Company recognizes regemoen prescribed to the end-user, on
a first-in first-out (FIFO) basis. The Company'seaue to be recognized is based on (1) the estihpréscription demand, based on pharmac
sales for its products; and (2) the Company’s aiglgf third-party information, including third-ggmarket research data. The Company’s
estimates are subject to the inherent limitatidnsstimates that rely on third-party data, as aettsird-party information is itself in the form of
estimates, and reflect other limitations. The Conyfmsales and revenue recognition reflects the gaomy's estimates of actual product
prescribed to the end-user. The Company expedis &ble to apply a more traditional revenue redagnpolicy such that revenue is




recognized following shipment to the customer whdelieves it has sufficient data to develop readie estimates of expected returns basec
upon historical returns and greater certainty réigargeneric competition.

The Company’s net revenues represent total revdasssllowances for customer credits, includirtgrested discounts, rebates, and
chargebacks. These allowances are recorded forccasideration given by a vendor to a customerighptesumed to be a reduction of the
selling prices of the vendor’s products or serviged, therefore, should be characterized as atiedwf revenue when recognized in the
vendor’s statement of operations. Adjustments ecended for estimated discounts, rebates and dbacs. These allowances are establishec
by management as its best estimate based on deailédrmation and are adjusted to reflect knowardes in the factors that impact such
allowances. Allowances for discounts, rebates &adgebacks are established based on the contraéetoed with customers, analysis of
historical levels of discounts, rebates and chaagkety communications with customers and the lesfelsventory remaining in the distribution
channel, as well as expectations about the maokegtaich product and anticipated introduction of petitive products. In addition, the
Company records a charge to cost of goods solthéocost basis of the estimated product return€timapany believes may ultimately be
realized at the time of product shipment to whdkrsa The Company has recognized this charge atateeof shipment since it is probable tha
it will receive a level of returned products; upbe return of such product it will be unable toedethe product considering its expiration
dating; and it can reasonably estimate a rangetofiis. This charge represents the cost basibdédptv end of the range of the Company’s
estimated returns. Product shipping and handlirsgscare included in cost of sales.

Qutenza

Qutenza is distributed in the United States by Bédedical, Inc., a specialty distributor that fugimés the medication to physician
offices; and by ASD Specialty Healthcare, Inc.padalty distributor that furnishes the medicatiornospitals and clinics. The Company does
not recognize revenue from product sales untilel&persuasive evidence of an arrangement, deglhes occurred, the price is fixed and
determinable, the buyer is obligated to pay the gamy, the obligation to pay is not contingent asate of the product, the buyer has econc
substance apart from the Company, the Companydabligation to bring about the sale of the progdaotd the amount of returns can be
reasonably estimated and collectability is reashynadsured. This means that, for Qutenza, the Cagnpecognizes product sales following
receipt of product by its specialty distributors.

The Company’s net revenues represent total revdasgallowances for customer credits, includirtgrexted rebates, chargebacks,
and returns. These allowances are recorded foramsdideration given by a vendor to a customerithptesumed to be a reduction of the
selling prices of the vendor’s products or serviged, therefore, are characterized as a reductioevenue. At the time product is shipped, an
adjustment is recorded for estimated rebates, ebaks, and returns. These allowances are esttlishmanagement as its best estimate
based on available information and will be adjusteceflect known changes in the factors that imgach allowances. Allowances for rebates
chargebacks, and returns are established basé® @ontractual terms with customers, historicaldes as well as expectations about the
market for the product and anticipated introductibcompetitive products. Product shipping anddtiag costs are included in cost of sales.

Milestones and royaltie

In order to determine the revenue recognition fortimgent milestones, the Company evaluates théngmnt milestones using the
criteria as provided by the Financial Accountingri®tards Boards (FASB) guidance on the milestondadedf revenue recognition. At the
inception of a collaboration agreement, the Compamfuates if payments are substantive. The @itequires that (i) the Company
determines if the milestone is commensurate witheeiits performance to achieve the milestone ermtithancement of value resulting from the
Company’s activities to achieve the milestone,tti§ milestone be related to past performance(iahthe milestone be reasonable relative to
all deliverable and payment terms of the collallorefrrangement. If these criteria are met thenctintingent milestones can be considered ¢
substantive milestones and will be recognized @smee in the period that the milestone is achieReyalties are recognized as earned in
accordance with the terms of various research ahaboration agreements.

I n-Process Research and Development

The cost of in-process research and developmeR&{IH acquired directly in a transaction other tlzabusiness combination is
capitalized if the projects have an alternativeifetuse; otherwise they are expensed. The faiegadtilPR&D projects acquired in business
combinations are capitalized. Several methods rneaysked to determine the estimated fair value ofRR&D acquired in a business
combination. The Company utilizes the "income mdthand uses estimated future net cash flows tteatlarived from projected sales
revenues and estimated costs. These projectiorzaaesl on




factors such as relevant market size, patent giotedistorical pricing and expected industry tienThe estimated future net cash flows are
then discounted to the present value using an gppte discount rate. These assets are treatediesnite-lived intangible assets until
completion or abandonment of the projects, at wlirtle the assets are amortized over the remairgefullife or written off, as appropriate.
IPR&D intangible assets which are determined tceh@ad a drop in their fair value are adjusted domnavand an expense recognized in the
statement of operations. These assets are tedtssannually or sooner when a triggering eventiss that could indicate a potential
impairment.

Contingent Consideration

The Company records contingent consideration asopés business acquisitions. Contingent consitien is recognized at fair value
as of the date of acquisition and recorded ashditiaon the consolidated balance sheet. Theingenht consideration is re-valued on a
quarterly basis using a probability weighted distted cash-flow approach until fulfillment or exgiom of the contingency. Changes in the
fair value of the contingent consideration are ggtped in the statement of operations.

Goodwill

Gooduwill represents the amount of consideration paexcess of the fair value of net assets acduisea result of the Company’s
business acquisitions accounted for using the aitipui method of accounting. Goodwill is not anmetl and is subject to impairment testing
on an annual basis or when a triggering event adfuat may indicate the carrying value of the gotidsvimpaired.

Collaborations

The Company recognizes collaboration revenues gpeinses by analyzing each element of the agreaimeetermine if it shall be
accounted for as a separate element or singletiagcounting. If an element shall be treated s&phyr for revenue recognition purposes, the
revenue recognition principles most appropriatetiat element are applied to determine when reveha# be recognized. If an element shall
not be treated separately for revenue recognitiopgses, the revenue recognition principles mostagiate for the bundled group of elem
are applied to determine when revenue shall begrézed. Payments received in excess of revenuegméed are recorded as deferred
revenue until such time as the revenue recogndiiteria have been met.

Concentration of Credit Risk

The Company’s principal direct customers as of Ma&t, 2015 were a network of specialty pharmad&esser Permanente, and ASD
Specialty Healthcare, Inc. for Ampyra, wholesalamaceutical distributors for Zanaflex Capsules Zadaflex tablets, and two specialty
distributors for Qutenza. The Company periodicalgesses the financial strength of these custandrestablishes allowances for anticipatec
losses, if necessary. Four customers individualgoanted for more than 10% of the Company’s prodexmgnue in 2015 and 2014. Four
customers individually accounted for more than Iifdthe Company’s accounts receivable as of Mar¢t2815 and December 31, 2014,
respectively. The Company’s net product revenueganerated in the United States.

Segment and Geographic I nformation

The Company is managed and operated as one busihi&ssis focused on the identification, developtamd commercialization of
novel therapies to improve the lives of people wigturological disorders. The entire business isagad by a single management team that
reports to the Chief Executive Officer. The Compdogs not operate separate lines of business @sfyect to any of its products or product
candidates and the Company does not prepare digorahcial information with respect to separatedoicts or product candidates or by
location. Accordingly, the Company views its biesia as one reportable operating segment. Net groslitenues reported to date are derived
from sales of Ampyra, Zanaflex and Qutenza in tingedl States.

Subsequent Events

Subsequent events are defined as those eventmeattions that occur after the balance sheetlatbdefore the financial statements
are filed with the Securities and Exchange CommissThe Company completed an evaluation of the anpbany subsequent events through
the date these financial statements were issuedjetermined there were no subsequent events imgydisclosure in or requiring adjustment
to these financial statements.




Recent Accounting Pronouncements

In May 2014, the Financial Accounting Standardsrdq&ASB) issued Accounting Standards Update 208,4R@venue from
Contracts with Customers (Topic 606) (ASU No. 2@B3- This new standard will replace all currenBUGAAP guidance on this topic and
eliminate all industry-specific guidance. In A@D15, the FASB issued an exposure draft propdsimgfer the effective date of the new
revenue standard for interim and annual periodinbéty after December 15, 2017 (previously Deceniie12016). The proposal will allow
public entities to adopt the new standard as earlghe original public entity effective date (eanual reporting periods beginning after
December 15, 2016 and interim periods thereinylyEaloption prior to that date will not be perradt ASU 2014-09 allows for either full
retrospective or modified retrospective adoptidime Company is evaluating the transition methodwhihbe elected and the potential effects
of adopting the provisions of ASU No. 2014-09..

In August 2014, the FASB issued Accounting Stanslafpdate 2014-15, Presentation of Financial Statésy®oing Concern
(Subtopic 205-40): Disclosure of Uncertainties atauEntity’s Ability to Continue as a Going Cont€ASU 2014-15), which defines
management’s responsibility to assess an entibjlgyato continue as a going concern, and to pilevielated footnote disclosures if there is
substantial doubt about its ability to continueaaming concern. ASU 2014-05 is effective for anmeporting periods ending after December
15, 2016 with early adoption permitted. The admptf this guidance is not expected to have a figmit impact on the Company’s
consolidated financial statements.

In April 2015, the FASB issued Accounting Standddgslate 2015-03, Interest — Imputation of Inte(8stbtopic 83530): Simplifyinc
the Presentation of Debt Issuance Costs (ASU 2@} 5vthich requires that debt issuance costs relatedrecognized debt liability be
presented in the balance sheet as a direct deddotim the debt liability rather than as an asgedU-2014-15 is effective for fiscal years and
interim periods within those fiscal years beginnaftgr December 15, 2015, with early adoption pt#adi The adoption of this guidance is
expected to have a significant impact on the Compgaconsolidated financial statements or resultspErations.

(3) Acquisitions
Civitas Therapeutics, Inc. Acquisition

On October 22, 2014, the Company completed theisitiqn of Civitas Therapeutics, Inc., a Delawaceporation (Civitas). As a
result of the acquisition, the Company acquiredglaights to CVT-301, a Phase 3 treatment candiftatOFF episodes of Parkinson’s
disease. The acquisition of Civitas also includghtts to Civitas’s proprietary ARCUS pulmonary igtety technology, which management
believes has applications in multiple disease am@rad a subleased manufacturing facility in Chelsassachusetts with commercial-scale
capabilities. The approximately 90,000 square faoiity also includes office and laboratory spadpproximately 45 Civitas employees
based at the Chelsea facility joined the Acordakfasce in connection with the acquisition.

The Civitas acquisition was completed under an Agrent and Plan of Merger, dated as of Septembe&(4}, (the Merger
Agreement), by and among Acorda, Five A Acquisiti@orporation, a Delaware corporation and its whollyned subsidiary (Merger Sub),
Civitas and Shareholder Representative Services BL@olorado limited liability company, solely its icapacity as the securityholders’
representative (SRS). Pursuant to the terms dffgrger Agreement, Merger Sub has merged with atCivitas, which is the surviving
corporation in the Merger and which is continuisgaavholly-owned subsidiary of Acorda under theit@s/name.

Pursuant to the terms of the Merger Agreement,eagge merger consideration was $525 million plus #dllion in Civitas
transaction costs paid by the Company. Additignafid pursuant to the Merger Agreement, upon consation of the merger, $39.375
million of the aggregate merger consideration wgsodited into escrow to secure representation amchnty indemnification obligations of
Civitas and Civitas’ securityholders. The trangactvas financed with cash on hand. The Compaoyried approximately $7.2 million of its
own transactions costs related to legal, valuadiosh other professional and consulting fees assatiaith the acquisition. These transaction
costs have been expensed as selling, general amdisplative expenses in the year ended Decemhe2(@H4.




The fair value of consideration transferred totagegdroximately $529.5 million summarized as follows

(In thousands)

Cash paic $ 524,20:
Extinguishment of long-term debt 5,32¢
Fair value of consideration transferred $ 529,52!

In accordance with the acquisition method of actiognthe Company allocated the preliminary purehaisce to the estimated fair
values of the identifiable assets acquired andlilis assumed, with any excess allocated to gdlhdwhe fair value of acquired IPR&D will
be classified as an indefinite lived intangibleeaastil the successful completion or abandonmétiieassociated research and development
efforts. The Company accounted for the transaca business combination. The results of Ciuvitpsrations have been included in the
consolidated statements of operations from the afadequisition.

Acquired contingent consideration represents thimated fair value of certain royalty payments duneler a prior acquisition
agreement between Alkermes and Civitas pertairargates of licensed products using the ARCUS tdogyo The estimated fair value of the
acquired contingent consideration was determineddpjying a probability adjusted, discounted cdst fapproach based on estimated future
sales expected from CVT-301, a phase 3 candidatbdédreatment of OFF episodes of Parkinson’s &iseand CVT-427, a pre-clinical
development stage product intended to providefrilien acute migraine episodes.

Gooduwill represents the amount of the purchasesréid in excess of the estimated fair value ofdsets acquired and liabilities
assumed. The goodwill recorded as part of theiaitigun is primarily related to establishing a deéal tax liability for the IPR&D intangible
assets which have no tax basis and, thereforenutiliesult in a future tax deduction.

The following table presents the preliminary allibma of the purchase price to the estimated fawes of the assets acquired and
liabilities assumed as of the acquisition date:

(In thousands)

Current assel $ 54,91:
Property and equipme 27,91
Identifiable intangible asset
In-process research and developn 423,00(
Other noi-current asset 1,002
Current liabilities (6,159
Contingent consideratic (50,400
Deferred taxe (102,63))
Other non-current liabilities (1,06%)
Fair value of acquired assets and liabili 346,57:
Goodwill 182,95.
Aggregate purchase pri 529,52¢
Amount paid to extinguish long-term debt (5,325
Cash Paid $ 524,20:

The Company may update its preliminary acquisiiooounting for provisional amounts for which theamting is incomplete during the
reporting period in which the acquisition occurradd may continue to update the provisional amountit the amounts are no longer
provisional, but for no longer than one year frdma tlate of the acquisition. Any updates to thevalue of consideration given or fair value
assigned to assets acquired and liabilities assulmedg the measurement period would be adjustexigh goodwill.

Pro-Forma Financial Information Associated with the Civitas Acquisition (Unaudited)
The following table summarizes certain supplemeptalforma financial information for the three miosended March 31, 2015 and
2014 as if the acquisition of Civitas had occurasdf January 1, 2013. The unaudited pro formanfital information for the three months

ended March 31, 2014 reflects (i) the impact tordejption expense based on fair value adjustmerttsetproperty, plant and equipment
acquired from Civitas; and (ii) the income tax W#rfeom Civitas net
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loss at the Company’s effective income tax ratélatch 31, 2014. The unaudited pro forma finanicifdrmation was prepared for
comparative purposes only and is not necessadigative of what would have occurred had the adgoisbeen made at that time or of results
which may occur in the future.

Three Month Period ended Three Month Period ended

March 31, 2015 March 31, 2014
(In thousands) Reported Pro Forma Reported Pro Forma
Net revenue $ 9985 $ 99,85 $ 80,51t $ 80,51¢
Net (loss) incomi (3,085 (3,085 703 (2,267)

(4) Share-based Compensation

During the three-month periods ended March 31, 20462014, the Company recognized share-based csatjmmn expense of $7.1
million and $5.8 million, respectively. Activity inptions and restricted stock during the three-im@etiod ended March 31, 2015 and related
balances outstanding as of that date are refldathxv. The weighted average fair value per shaptibns granted to employees for the three
month periods ended March 31, 2015 and 2014 wermajmately $16.25 and $18.81, respectively.

The following table summarizes share-based compiensaxpense included within the consolidated staiets of operations:

For the three-month
period ended March 31,

(In thousand) 2015 2014
Research and developme $ 1,82 $ 1,10¢
Selling, general and administrative 5,30¢ 4,65:

Total $ 7,12¢ $ 5,751

A summary of share-based compensation activityiferthree-month period ended March 31, 2015 issptesl below:

Stock Option Activity

Weighted Average

Remaining
Number of Share: Weighted Average Contractual Intrinsic Value
(In thousands) Exercise Price Term (In thousands)
Balance at January 1, 20 7,78¢ $ 29.0¢
Granted 1,28t 36.1:
Cancellec (24) 34.1¢
Exercised (197) 24.8:
Balance at March 31, 2015 8,85¢ $ 30.1¢ 7.2 $ 40,88¢
Vested and expected to vest at March 31, 201 8,69¢ $ 30.0¢ 713 40,80:
Vested and exercisable at March 31, 2015 459¢ $ 26.0¢ 54 % 35,70:

11




Restricted Stock Activi

(In thousands)

Restricted Stock Number of Shares

Nonvested at January 1, 20 51¢
Granted 21¢
Vested -
Forfeited (2)
Nonvested at March 31, 20 73t

Unrecognized compensation cost for unvested stptikres and restricted stock awards as of Marct2815 totaled $83.5 million and
is expected to be recognized over a weighted aeqvagod of approximately 2.8 years.

(5) Earnings Per Share

The following table sets forth the computation asiz and diluted earnings per share for the threetimperiods ended March 31,
2015 and 2014:

Three-month ~ Three-month
period ended  period ended

(In thousands, except per share data) March 31, 201! March 31, 201«
Basic and diluted
Net (loss) incom $ (3,089 $ 702
Weighted average common shares outstanding usemhiputing net (loss) income
per shar—basic 42,03: 40,93¢
Plus: net effect of dilutive stock options and riesdd common shares — 1,301
Weighted average common shares outstanding usemiputing net (loss) income
per share—diluted 42,03. 42,23¢
Net (loss) income per sh—basic $ (0.0 $ 0.0z
Net (loss) income per sh—diluted $ (0.07) $ 0.0z

The difference between basic and diluted shargsisdiluted shares include the dilutive effectha assumed exercise of outstanding
securities. The Company’s stock options and undesttares of restricted common stock could havenib&t significant impact on diluted
shares.

Securities that could potentially be dilutive akeladed from the computation of diluted earnings gfeare when a loss from
continuing operations exists or when the exerciggegxceeds the average closing price of the Cagipgommon stock during the period,
because their inclusion would result in an antidille effect on per share amounts.

The following amounts were not included in the aidtion of net (loss) income per diluted share bheeaheir effects were anti-
dilutive:

Three-month Three-month

period ended period ended
(In thousands March 31, 2015 March 31, 2014
Denominator
Stock options and restricted common shi 3,30( 2,76¢
Convertible note 19 29

Additionally, the impact of the convertible debtsw@determined to be anti-dilutive and excluded fthmcalculation of net income per
diluted share.
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(6) Income Taxes

For the three-month periods ended March 31, 208528144, the Company recorded a $2.0 million berfefin and $2.8 million
provision for income taxes, respectively, basedupoestimated tax liability for the year. The bénfrom/ provision for income taxes is bas
on federal, state and Puerto Rico income taxeseffbetive income tax rates for the Company forttiree-month periods ended March 31,
2015 and 2014 were 40% and 80%, respectively. resalt of the Federal research and developmertreadit not being extended during the
first quarter of 2015, the Company was not ableeteive a benefit in the effective tax rate fostini 2015. The Company, however, was ab
receive a benefit in the effective tax rate for 2@dr the Massachusetts state research and devetdpax credit in addition to the Federal
orphan drug credit.

The Company continues to evaluate the realizahifiys deferred tax assets and liabilities on @gokc basis and will adjust such
amounts in light of changing facts and circumstarineluding, but not limited to, future projectiooktaxable income, tax legislation, rulings
by relevant tax authorities, the progress of ongdéx audits and the regulatory approval of proslearrently under development. Any chan
to the valuation allowance or deferred tax assetse future would impact the Company's incomegaxe

(7) Fair Value Measurements

The following table presents information about @@mpany’s assets and liabilities measured at &lirevon a recurring basis as of
March 31, 2015 and indicates the fair value hidnamf the valuation techniques utilized to deterendnich fair value. In general, fair values
determined by Level 1 inputs utilize quoted prif@sadjusted) in active markets for identical aseetgbilities. Fair values determined by
Level 2 inputs utilize data points that are obsklwasuch as quoted prices, interest rates and gigles. Fair values determined by Level 3
inputs utilize unobservable data points for theetes liability. The Company’s Level 1 assets cehef time deposits and investments in a
Treasury money market fund and the Company’s LBwadsets consist of high-quality government bomdsaaie valued using observable
market prices. Level 1 instrument valuations drimed from real-time quotes for transactionsative exchange markets involving identical
assets and Level 2 assets are valued using quoted for similar assets and liabilities in actmarkets or other market observable inputs suc
as interest rates and yield curves. The Compamg'IL3 liabilities represent acquired contingentsideration related to the acquisition of
Civitas and are valued using a probability weighdesttounted cash flow valuation approach. No ckang valuation techniques or inputs
occurred during the three months ended March 31520 he estimated fair values of all of our fin@hstruments approximate their carrying
values at March 31, 2015.

(In thousands) Level 1 Level 2 Level 3
March 31, 2015

Assets Carried at Fair Value:

Cash equivalent $ 4539 % — —
Shor-term investment 238,18: —

Liabilities Carried at Fair Value:
Acquired contingent consideratis — — 55,70(
Put/call liability — — —

December 31, 2014

Assets Carried at Fair Value:

Cash equivalent $ 149,75 $ — $ —
Shor-term investment — 125,44¢ —

Liabilities Carried at Fair Value:
Acquired contingent consideratis — — 52,60(
Put/call liability — — —

The fair value of the Company's convertible senmtes was approximately $351.7 million as of Ma&8th2015. The Company
estimates the fair value of its Notes utilizing ketrquotations for the debt (Level 2).
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The following table presents additional informatelyout liabilities measured at fair value on a reng basis and for which the
Company utilizes Level 3 inputs to determine failue.

Acquired contingent consideratic

Three-month ~ Three-month
period ended  period ended

(In thousands) March 31, 201 March 31, 201+«
Acquired contingent consideration:
Balance, beginning of peric $ 52,60( $ —
Fair value change to contingent consideration @lired) included in the statement

operations 3,10( —
Balance, end of period $ 55,70( $ —

The Company estimates the fair value of its acguiantingent consideration using a probability viaeégl discounted cash flow
valuation approach based on estimated future sajescted from CVT-301, a phase 3 candidate fotrdament of OFF episodes of
Parkinson’s Disease and CVT-427, a pre-clinicakttgyment stage product intended to provide ret@hfacute migraine episodes. Using this
approach, expected future cash flows are calcutatedthe expected life of the agreement, are disigal, and then exercise scenario
probabilities are applied. Some of the more sigaift assumptions made in the valuation includhé)estimated CVT-301 and CVT 427
revenue forecasts, (i) probabilities of success, @i) discount periods and rate. The probabitifyachievement of revenue milestones ranged
from 28.5% to 70% with milestone payment outconzesying from $0 to $60 million in the aggregate @(T-301 and CVT-427. The
valuation is performed quarterly. Gains and lossesncluded in the statement of operations.

The acquired contingent consideration is class#éie@d Level 3 liability as its valuation requirebstantial judgment and estimation of
factors that are not currently observable in theketa If different assumptions were used for theiaus inputs to the valuation approach,
including but not limited to, assumptions involvipgpbability adjusted sales estimates for CVT-30d @VT-427 and estimated discount rai
the estimated fair value could be significantlyh@gor lower than the fair value we determined.

(8) Investments
The Company has determined that all of its investsare classified as available-for-sale. Availgblesale securities are carried at

fair value with interest on these securities ineldidh interest income and are recorded based plynoar quoted market prices. Available-for-
sale securities consisted of the following:

Gross Gross Estimated
Amortized unrealized unrealized fair
(In thousands) Cost gains losses value
March 31, 201
US Treasury bond $ 238,20 $ 7% (29) $ 238,18:
December 31, 201
US Treasury bond 125,44: 14 9) 125,44t

The contractual maturities of short-term availafdlesale debt securities at March 31, 2015 and Bées 31, 2014 are greater than 3
months but less than 1 year. The Company hasmdieted that there were no other-than-temporary deslin the fair values of its investments
as of March 31, 2015.

Short-term investments with maturities of three theror less from date of purchase have been dledsié cash equivalents, and
amounted to $45.4 million and $149.8 millioas of March 31, 2015 and December 31, 2014, raspéct

14




Unrealized holding gains and losses are reportédméccumulated other comprehensive income (AQCihe statements of
comprehensive income (loss). The changes in AG&b@ated with the unrealized holding loss on atdé-for-sale investments during the
three months ended March 31, 2015, were as fol{owthousands):

Net Unrealized

Gains on

(In thousands) Marketable Securities

Balance at December 31, 20 $ (74)

Other comprehensive income before reclassitioat (@)
Amounts reclassified from accumulated other

comprehensive income —

Net current period other comprehensive income 17

Balance at March 31, 2015 $ (92)

(9) Collaborations, Alliances, and Other Agreements
Biogen

On June 30, 2009, the Company entered into an gxeleollaboration and license agreement with Biolgegernational GmbH
(formerly Biogen Idec International GmbH), or Biog® develop and commercialize Ampyra (known as @amoutside the U.S.) in markets
outside the United States (the “Collaboration Agreat”). Under the Collaboration Agreement, Biogeaswranted the exclusive right to
commercialize Ampyra and other products contaiingnopyridines developed under that agreement icoahtries outside of the United
States, which grant includes a sublicense of the@2my’s rights under an existing license agreerbetween the Company and Alkermes plc
(Alkermes), formerly Elan Corporation, plc (ElaBjogen has responsibility for regulatory activitasd future clinical development of
Fampyra in ex-U.S. markets worldwide. The Compday antered into a related supply agreement witdgé&m (the “Supply Agreement”),
pursuant to which the Company will supply Biogenhats requirements for the licensed products thhothe Company’s existing supply
agreement with Alkermes.

Under the Collaboration Agreement, the Company evesled to an upfront payment of $110.0 millionadslune 30, 2009, which w
received in July 2009, and a $25.0 million milestgrayment upon approval of the product in the EegopJUnion, which was received in
August 2011. The Company is also entitled to rezadditional payments of up to $10.0 million basadhe successful achievement of future
regulatory milestones and up to $365.0 million blame the successful achievement of future salesstoihes. Due to the uncertainty
surrounding the achievement of the future regujedmd sales milestones, these payments will notbegnized as revenue unless and until
they are earned. The Company is not able to reaopeedict if and when the milestones will be astad. Under the Collaboration
Agreement, Biogen will be required to make douhlittdiered royalty payments to the Company on e$-$ales. In addition, the
consideration that Biogen will pay for licensedduots under the Supply Agreement will reflect thiegpowed to the Company’s suppliers
under its supply arrangements with Alkermes or osiippliers for ex-U.S. sales. The Company and &iagay also carry out future joint
development activities regarding licensed producten a cost-sharing arrangement. Under the terrtteedollaboration Agreement, the
Company, in part through its participation in joa@mmittees with Biogen, will participate in oveesgg the development and
commercialization of Ampyra and other licensed pigid in markets outside the United States pursigatiiat agreement. Acorda will continue
to develop and commercialize Ampyra independemtihé United States.

As of June 30, 2009, the Company recorded defeeeehue of $110.0 million for the upfront paymeminh Biogen under the
Collaboration Agreement. Also, as a result of spapment to Acorda, a payment of $7.7 million waslentb Alkermes and recorded as a
deferred expense.

The Company considered the following deliverabléh wespect to the revenue recognition of the $0 hdillion upfront payment: (1)
the license to use the Company’s technology, @)dbllaboration Agreement to develop and commazeidicensed product in all countries
outside the U.S., and (3) the Supply Agreement. tduke inherent uncertainty in obtaining regulatapproval, the applicability of the Supply
Agreement is outside the control of the CompanyBiogen. Accordingly, the Company has determinedShpply Agreement is a contingent
deliverable at the onset of the agreement. Asualttehe Company has determined the Supply Agreedmes not meet the definition of a
deliverable that needs to be accounted for atrtbeption of the arrangement. The Company has &wordined that there is no significant
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and incremental discount related to the supplyemgent since Biogen will pay the same amount foemery that the Company would pay and
the Company effectively acts as a middle man iratin@ngement for which it adds no significant value to various factors such as the
Company does not have any manufacturing capabilitieother know how with respect to the manufantuprocess.

The Company has determined that the identified cariingent deliverables (deliverables 1 and 2 imiatety preceding) would have
no value on a standalone basis if they were sqidragely by a vendor and the customer could netlrde delivered items on a standalone
basis, nor does the Company have objective arabtelevidence of fair value for the deliverablescérdingly, the norcontingent deliverable
are treated as one unit of accounting. As a rethdtCompany will recognize the non-refundableapf payment from Biogen as revenue and
the associated payment to Alkermes as expensdyratadr the estimated term of regulatory exclugi¥dr the licensed products under the
Collaboration Agreement as the Company had detedriinis was the most probable expected benefibgpefihe Company recognized $2.3
million in license revenue, a portion of the $116llion received from Biogen, and $159,000 in coklicense revenue, a portion of the
$7.7 million paid to Alkermes, during the three-rtfoperiods ended March 31, 2015 and 2014. The @asnpurrently estimates the
recognition period to be approximately 12 yearsfithe date of the Collaboration Agreement.

On January 21, 2011 Biogen announced that the Earopedicines Agency’s (EMA) Committee for MedidiRaoducts for Human
Use (CHMP) decided against approval of Fampyranmrove walking ability in adult patients with mulé sclerosis. Biogen, working closely
with the Company, filed a formal appeal of the dixi. In May 2011, the CHMP recommended condifiomarketing authorization, and in
July 2011 Biogen received conditional approval fribva European Commission for, Fampyra (prolongéshsee fampridine tablets) for the
improvement of walking in adult patients with MStiwivalking disability (Expanded Disability Statusefe of 4-7).

As part of its ex-U.S. license agreement, Bioger®wcorda royalties based on ex-U.S. net salespdledtones based on ex-U.S.
regulatory approval and new indications. Theseshiines included a $25.0 million payment for apako¥ the product in the European Union
which was recorded and paid in the three monttopgended September 30, 2011. Based on Acorda’slwinl® license and supply agreement
with Alkermes, Alkermes received 7% of this milastgpayment from Acorda during the same period. réeenue recognition purposes, the
Company has determined this milestone to be sudstan accordance with applicable accounting go@arelated to milestone
revenue. Substantive uncertainty existed at tbeption of the arrangement as to whether the roihestvould be achieved because of the
numerous variables, such as the high rate of faihferent in the research and development of medugts and the uncertainty involved with
obtaining regulatory approval. Biogen leveragedlats U.S. Ampyra study results that contributeth®sregulatory approval process.
Therefore, the milestone was achieved based inopaftcordas past performance. The milestone was also rebkoredative to all deliverabl
and payment terms of the collaboration arrangenidrdrefore, the payment was recognized in its eytias revenue and the cost of the
milestone revenue was recognized in its entiretgragxpense during the three-month period endett®éer 30, 2011. The Company
recognized $2.3 million and $2.4 million in royatgvenue for the three-month periods ended Mar¢l2@15 and 2014, respectively, related tc
ex-U.S. sales of Fampyra by Biogen.

Actavis/Watson

The Company has an agreement with Watson Pharmaalsubsidiary of Actavis, Inc. (formerly Watddharmaceuticals, Inc.), to
market tizanidine hydrochloride capsules, an aigkdrgeneric version of Zanaflex Capsules which laaached in February 2012. In
accordance with the agreement, the Company recaivegalty based on Watson'’s gross margin, as eéfioy the agreement, of the authorizec
generic product. During the three-month periodssendarch 31, 2015 and 2014, the Company recogmagalty revenue of $1.8 million and
$1.4 million, respectively, related to the grosggiraof the Zanaflex Capsule authorized generiariiy the three-month periods ended Marct
31, 2015 and 2014, the Company also recognizechuevand a corresponding cost of sales of $179,006830,000, respectively, related to
the purchase and sale of the related Zanaflex Gapsithorized generic product to Actavis, whicheisorded in net product revenues and cost
of sales.

Neuronex
In December 2012, the Company acquired Neuronex, &nprivately-held development stage pharmacaiutmmpany (Neuronex)
developing Plumiaz (our trade name for DiazepamaN&pray). Plumiaz is a proprietary nasal spragnidation of diazepam that we are

developing under Section 505(b)(2) of the Food,gband Cosmetic Act as an acute treatment for salectfractory patients with epilepsy, on
stable regimens of antiepileptic drugs, or AEDspweperience
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intermittent bouts of increased seizure activigoatnown as seizure clusters or acute repetitivzeises, or ARS.

Under the terms of the agreement, the Company madgfront payment of $2.0 million in February 20Ihe Company also paid
$1.5 million during the twelve month period endegcBmber 31, 2012 pursuant to a commitment undeagfeement to fund research to
prepare for the Plumiaz pre-NDA meeting with theA=0n December 2012, the Company completed theiaitipn by paying $6.8 million to
former Neuronex shareholders less a $300,000 hckd@vision. After adjustment for Neuronex’s wimidk capital upon closing of the
acquisition, approximately $120,000 of the holdbantount was remaining as of December 31, 2013s G&lance was paid to the former
equity holders of Neuronex pursuant to the mergesgement in February 2014.

The former equity holders of Neuronex are entittedeceive from Acorda up to an additional $18 imillin contingent earnout
payments upon the achievement of specified regylaod manufacturing-related milestones with respediazepam Nasal Spray products,
and up to $105 million upon the achievement of Bigetsales milestones with respect to DiazepamaN8pray products. The former equity
holders of Neuronex will also be entitled to reesiiered royalty-like earnout payments, rangingrfriie upper single digits to lower double
digits, on worldwide net sales of Diazepam Nasab@products. These payments are payable on drgemyrcountry basis until the earlier to
occur of ten years after the first commercial sdla product in such country and the entry of genswmpetition in such country as defined in
the Agreement.

The patent and other intellectual property and rotights relating to Diazepam Nasal Spray prodactslicensed from SK
Biopharmaceuticals Co., Ltd. (SK). Pursuant toSkelicense, which granted worldwide rights to Nenax, except certain specified Asian
countries, the Company’s subsidiary Neuronex iggabtd to pay SK up to $8 million upon the achieeatrof specified development
milestones with respect to the Diazepam Nasal Spraguct (including a $1 million payment that wegdered during the three-month period
ending September 30, 2013 upon the FDA's acceptianeeview of the first NDA for Plumiaz and paidrihg the three-month period ending
December 31, 2013), and up to $3 million upon ttteevement of specified sales milestones with retsjgethe Diazepam Nasal Spray
product. Also, Neuronex is obligated to pay Skeeed, mid-single digit royalty on net sales of Bspam Nasal Spray products.

The Company evaluated the transaction based tngoguidance of ASC 805, Business Combinationscandluded that it only
acquired inputs and did not acquire any proces$bs. Company needed to develop its own processasl@r to produce an output. Therefore
the Company accounted for the transaction as at asquisition and accordingly the $2.0 million ngpit payment, $1.5 million in research
funding and $6.8 million of closing consideraticgt of tangible net assets acquired of $3.7 miidrich were primarily the taxable amount of
net operating loss carryforwards, were expensedsesarch and development expense during the twebreh period ended December 31,
2012.

(10) Commitments and Contingencies

A summary of the Company’s commitments and contiegs was included in the Company’s Annual ReporEorm 10-K for the
year ended December 31, 2014. The Com'’s long-term contractual obligations include comments and estimated purchase obligations
entered into in the normal course of business.

In March 2015, Civitas exercised its right to exténe term of a sublease for five additional yearsil December 31, 2020, and
Civitas retains the right to further extend thelsabe beyond that date for another five year peridte base rent is currently $722,000 per
year. For each extension period, the economicg@fthe sublease will be determined by a procestgh in the sublease, and the Comp
will be required to provide a letter of credit in amount equal to the full five-year lease obligatior each lease extension period and
additional security. Alkermes leases the buildigsuant to an overlease with H&N Associates, Laf] has extension rights pursuant to the
overlease that correspond to Civitas’ extensiohtsiginder the sublease. Alkermes has exerciseg-gdiar extension option under the
overlease that corresponds with Civitas’ exercfdésdive year extension option under the sublea®ersuant to the sublease, Civitas has
agreed to comply with all of Alkermes’s obligatiomsder the overlease

The Company accrues for amounts related to legtiensdf it is probable that a liability has beeweurred and the amount is

reasonably estimable. While losses, if any, arsiptes the Company is not able to estimate anyasmd losses as of March 31,
2015. Litigation expenses are expensed as incurred

17




Item 2. Management’s Discussion and Analysis ofirancial Condition and Results of Operations

The following discussion and analysis of our comsded financial condition and results of operagishould be read in conjunction
with our unaudited consolidated financial statera@mtd related notes included in this Quarterly RepoForm 10-Q.

Background

We are a biopharmaceutical company dedicated tm#heification, development and commercializatidmovel therapies that restc
neurological function and improve the lives of peopith neurological disorders. We market threeAF&pproved therapies, including Amp
(dalfampridine) Extended Release Tablets, 10 niiggeament to improve walking in patients with mpiki sclerosis, or MS, as demonstrated b
an increase in walking speed. We have one of tdirlg pipelines in the industry of novel neurolagitherapies. We are currently developing
a number of clinical and preclinical stage therapi€his pipeline addresses a range of disordeekiding chronic post-stroke walking deficits
(PSWD), Parkinson’s disease, epilepsy, heart ®ilMtS, and spinal cord injury.

Ampyra
General

Ampyra was approved by the FDA in January 201Q@Herimprovement of walking in people with MS. Ta é¢mowledge, Ampyra is
the first and only drug approved for this indicati&fficacy was shown in people with all four majgpes of MS (relapsing remitting,
secondary progressive, progressive relapsing anthpy progressive). Ampyra was made commercialbilable in the United States in Ma
2010. Net revenue for Ampyra was $92.4 milliontfee three months ended March 31, 2015 and $72li&mfor the three months ended
March 31, 2014.

Since the March 2010 launch of Ampyra, more tha®,d@0 people with MS in the U.S. have tried Ampyvde believe that Ampyra
is increasingly considered by many physicians adsted of care to improve walking in people with M&s of December 2014, approximately
70% of all people with MS who were prescribed Angoggceived a first refill, and approximately 40%atifpeople with MS who were
prescribed Ampyra have been dispensed at leastaiths of the medicine through refills, consistsith previously reported trends. These
refill rates exclude patients who started Ampymatigh our First Step trial program. Our First Stepgram provides eligible patients with two
months of Ampyra at no cost. More than 65% of Wewmpyra patients currently enroll in First Step. elprogram is in its fourth year, and data
show that First step participants have higher canpk and persistency rates over time comparednerirst Step pati ents. Approximately
50% of patients who initiate Ampyra therapy witle thirst Step free trial program convert to paidspriptions.

Ampyra is marketed in the United States throughawum specialty sales force and commercial infrastme. We currently have
approximately 90 sales representatives in the fialling on a priority target list of approximately000 physicians. We also have established
teams of Medical Science Liaisons, Regional Reisdment Directors, Managed Markets Account Direotdre provide information and
assistance to payers and physicians on Ampyraph&ltirrade Account Managers who work with wholesasand our limited network of
specialty pharmacies, and Market Development Maisagbo work collaboratively with field teams andporate personnel to assist in the
execution of the Company’s strategic initiatives.

Ampyra is distributed in the United States exclegithrough a limited network of specialty pharmaecgviders that deliver the
medication to patients by mail, Kaiser Permanentech distributes Ampyra to patients through a etbaetwork of on-site pharmacies; and
ASD Specialty Healthcare, Inc. (an AmerisourceBeraffiliate), which distributes Ampyra to the UBureau of Prisons, the U.S. Department
of Defense, the U.S. Department of Veterans Affairs/A, and other federal agencies. All of thesstomers are contractually obligated to
hold no more than an agreed number of days of bavgnranging from between 10 to 30 days.

We have contracted with a third party organizatidth extensive experience in coordinating patiesnéfits to run Ampyra Patient
Support Services, or APSS, a dedicated resourtedbadinates the prescription process among tesakhproviders, people with MS, and
insurance carriers. Processing of most incomiggests for prescriptions by APSS begins within @drhk of receipt. Patients will experience &
range of times to receive their first shipment ldase the processing time for insurance requiremégsvith any prescription product, patients
who are members of benefit plans that have reisiigirior authorizations may experience delaysueiving their prescription.
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Two of the largest national health plans in the.J-8nited Healthcare and Cigna — have listed Ampyrthe lowest competitive
reimbursement tier, which means that it is liste@ither the lowest branded copay tier or the ldwesnded specialty tier (if more than one
specialty tier exists) of their commercial preferdrug list or formulary. Approximately 75% of ired individuals in the U.S. continue to
have no or limited prior authorizations, or PA's; Ampyra. We define limited PAs as those thatiregonly an MS diagnosis, documentation
of no contraindications, and/or simple documentatiat the patient has a walking impairment; sumtuchentation may include a Timed 25-
Foot Walk (T25W) test. The access figure is caltad based on the number of pharmacy lives repbstérbalth plans.

License and Collaboration Agreement with Biogen

Ampyra is marketed as Fampyra outside the U.S.ibgdh International GmbH (formerly Biogen Idec im&tional GmbH), or
Biogen, under a license and collaboration agreethantve entered into in June 2009. Fampyra hes bpproved in a number of countries
across Europe, Asia and the Americdiogen anticipates making Fampyra commercially labée in additional markets in 2015. Under our
agreement with Biogen, we are entitled to recemmabie-digit tiered royalties on sales of Fampyrd ese are also entitled to receive additional
payments based on achievement of certain regulatufysales milestones. We received a $25 millidestone payment from Biogen in 2011,
which was triggered by Biogen'’s receipt of condifibapproval from the European Commission for Faiampy he next expected milestone
payment would be $15 million, due when ex-U.S.ga¢s exceed $100 million over four consecutivateus

Ampyra Patent Update
We have five issued patents listed in the OrangekBor Ampyra, one of which issued in 2014, asdoi:

« The first is U.S. Patent No. 8,007,826, with claimting to methods to improve walking in patiewith MS by administering 10 n
of sustained releaseatninopyridine (dalfampridine) twice daily. Based thie final patent term adjustment calculation @& thnitec
States Patent and Trademark Office, or USPTO pihtisnt will extend into 202

» The second is U.S. Patent No. 5,540,938, the claihvghich relate to methods for treating a neuraabdisease, such as MS, .
cover the use of a sustained release dalfamprfdmeulation, such as AMPYRA (dalfampridine) Exteddeelease Tablets, 10 mg
improving walking in people with MS. In April 2018&is patent received a five year patent termresitan under the patent restora
provisions of the Hatch Waxman Act. With a fiveaygatent term extension, this patent will expire2018. We have an exclusi
license to this patent from Alkermes (originallythviElan, but transferred to Alkermes as part ofaitgjuisition of Elars Drug
Technologies busines:

. The third, which issued in January 2013, is U.SeRtaNo. 8,354,437, which includes claims relatiognethods to improve walkir
increase walking speed, and treat walking disgbifitpatients with MS by administering 10 mg of tsrsed release dminopyridin
(dalfampridine) twice daily. This patent is seetpire in 2026

« The fourth, which issued in May 2013, is U.S. Pafda. 8,440,703, which includes claims directedrtethods of improving low:
extremity function and walking and increasing watkspeed in patients with MS by administering tess 15 mg of sustained rele
4-aminopyridine (dalfampridine) twice daily. Thistpat is set to expire in 202

« The fifth, which issued in March of 2014, is U.&ténht No. 8,663,685 with claims relating to methtmsnprove walking in patien
with MS by administering 10 mg of sustained rele&seninopyridine (dalfampridine) twice daily. Abseydtent term adjustment, |
patent is set to expire in 20z

Ampyra also has Orphan Drug designation, whichgjivenarketing exclusivity in the U.S. until Jarnp2017.

In June and July of 2014, we received eight sepdaatagraph 1V Certification Notices from Accordattbcare, Inc., Actavis FL, Inc
Alkem Laboratories Ltd., Apotex, Inc., Aurobindodma Ltd., Mylan Pharmaceuticals, Inc., Roxane katwies, Inc., and Teva
Pharmaceuticals USA, Inc., advising that each eé¢hcompanies had submitted an ANDA to the FDAisgeakarketing approval for generic
versions of Ampyra (dalfampridine) Extended ReleBaklets, 10 mg. The ANDA filers have challengeel validity of our Orange Booksted
patents for Ampyra, and they have also assertadjéreeric versions of their products do not infaragrtain claims of these patents. In
response to these filings, we filed lawsuits agaafiof these companies alleging multiple courftpatent infringement. This litigation is
further described
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above in Part Il, Item 1 of this report. We fildase lawsuits within 45 days from the date of iggasf each of the Paragraph IV Certification
Notices. As a result, a 30 month statutory stagppfroval period applies to each of the ANDAs uriderHatcl-Waxman Act. The 30 month
stay starts from January 22, 2015, which is thedaride new chemical entity (NCE) exclusivity petifor Ampyra. This restricts the FDA
from approving the ANDAs until July 2017 at thelesat, unless a Federal district court issues &saectadverse to all of our asserted Orange
Book-listed patents prior to that date.

On May 6, 2015, we received a Paragraph IV Cedtiiicn Notice from Sun Pharmaceutical Industriesitéah or Sun
Pharmaceuticals, advising that it had submitteA\ldBA to the FDA seeking marketing approval for angdc version of Ampyra
(dalfampridine) Extended Release Tablets, 10 mg Fharmaceuticals has challenged the validitpof 6f our five Orange Book-listed
patents for Ampyra, and did not file against ous LPatent No. 5,540,938, and they have also adgbeéegeneric versions of their products
may not infringe certain claims of these patem& have 45 days from the date of receipt of thim@aph IV Certification Notice to file suit
U.S. District Court, which will institute a 30 mdnstatutory stay of approval period to the Sun Pla@euticals ANDA under the Hatch-
Waxman Act. Since the Sun Pharmaceuticals ANDA filed after January 22, 2015, which is the enthefnew chemical entity (NCE)
exclusivity period for Ampyra, the 30 month statytstay of approval will start from the receipttbé Paragraph IV Certification Notice. This
restricts the FDA from approving the ANDA until Newmber 2017 at the earliest, unless a Federaldistiurt issues a decision adverse to all
of our asserted Orange Book-listed patents pritihabdate. We are currently reviewing the Paragraph IV Cexdifion Notice.

On February 10 and 27, 2015, a hedge fund (actittgaffiliated entities and individuals and proceegunder the name of the
Coalition for Affordable Drugs) filed two separatéer partesreview (IPR) petitions with the U.S. Patent anddEraark Office, challenging
U.S. Patent Nos. 8,663,685, and 8,007,826, whietveo of the five Ampyra Orange Book-listed patelt® will oppose the requests to
institute these two IPRs, and if they are alloneg@roceed, we will oppose the full proceedings defénd our patents. The 30-month statutory
stay period based on patent infringement suitd fie Acorda against ANDA filers is not impactedthgse filings, and remains in effect.

In 2011, the European Patent Office, or EPO, grhRfe 1732548, the counterpart European patent3oRatent No. 8,354,437 with
claims relating to, among other things, use ofsaa@ned release aminopyridine composition, suataffampridine, to increase walking
speed. In March 2012, Synthon B.V. and neuraxphfameimittel GmBH filed oppositions with the EP@atlenging the EP 1732548
patent. We defended the patent, and in Decemte3, 20 announced that the EPO Opposition Divisioimeld amended claims in this patent
covering a sustained release formulation of dalféaimge for increasing walking in patients with Mi&dugh twice daily dosing at 10 mg. Both
Synthon B.V. and neuraxpharm Arzneimittel GmBH happealed the decision. In December 2013, Syrlgn neuraxpharm Arzneimittel
GmBH and Actavis Group PTC ehf filed oppositionshvthe EPO challenging our EP 2377536 patent, wisiehdivisional of the EP 1732548
patent. Both European patents are set to exp2025, absent any additional exclusivity granteskldeon regulatory review timelines.

We will vigorously defend our intellectual properights.
Zanaflex

Zanaflex Capsules and Zanaflex tablets are FDAeamut as short-acting drugs for the managementasitigity, a symptom of many
central nervous system disorders, including MSspidal cord injury. These products contain tizamedhydrochloride, one of the two leading
drugs used to treat spasticity. We launched Zar&@hkpsules in April 2005 as part of our strateglguild a commercial platform for the
potential market launch of Ampyra. Combined netraie of Zanaflex Capsules and Zanaflex tablets$684,000 for the three months ended
March 31, 2015 and $900,000 for the three montdse@mMarch 31, 2014. In 2012, Apotex commercialyriched a generic version of
tizanidine hydrochloride capsules, and we alsodaad our own authorized generic version, whicteisdp marketed by Watson Pharma (a
subsidiary of Actavis). In March 2013, Mylan Phacauticals commercially launched their own genegision of Zanaflex Capsules. The
commercial launch of generic tizanidine hydroctdercapsules has caused a significant decline iremehue from the sale of Zanaflex
Capsules, and the launch of these generic veraiothshe potential launch of other generic versisrexpected to cause the Company’s net
revenue from Zanaflex Capsules to decline furthéxd15 and beyond.

Qutenza

Qutenza is a dermal patch containing 8% prescriptteength capsaicin the effects of which candasto three months and is
approved by the FDA for the management of neurapatiin associated with post-herpetic neuralgisp #hown as post-shingles pain. We
acquired commercialization rights to Qutenza iry 2113 from NeurogesX, Inc. These rights inclute Wnited States, Canada, Latin Ame
and certain other territories. Qutenza was aptdyethe FDA in
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2010 and launched in April 2010 but NeurogesX disicmed active promotion of the product in Marcii20 In January 2014, we re-launched
Qutenza in the United States using our existingroencial organization, including our specialty ndogy sales force as well as our medical
and safety reporting infrastructure. Net reverargJutenza was $222,000 for the three months eltdedh 31, 2015 and $209,000 for the
three months ended March 31, 2014.

Astellas Pharma Europe Ltd. has exclusive commigrataon rights for Qutenza in the European EcormAriea (EEA) including the
28 countries of the European Union, Iceland, Norveayd Liechtenstein as well as Switzerland, certaimtries in Eastern Europe, the Middle
East and Africa.

Research & Development Programs

We have one of the leading pipelines in the ingustmovel neurological therapies. We are curgedéveloping a number of clinical
and preclinical stage therapies. This pipelinereskes a range of disorders, including chronic-gimeke walking deficits (PSWD), Parkinssn’
disease, epilepsy, heart failure, MS, and spinal agury. Our pipeline includes the programs disd below.

CVT-301 and ARCUS Technology

On October 22, 2014, we completed the acquisitfdbiwitas Therapeutics, Inc., a Delaware corporatids a result of the
acquisition, we acquired global rights to CVT-3@Fhase 3 treatment candidate for OFF episodearkiinBon’s disease. Our acquisition of
Civitas also included rights to Civitas’'s proprigtARCUS pulmonary delivery technology, which wdiéee has potential applications in
multiple disease areas, and a subleased manufagfagility in Chelsea, Massachusetts with comnadistale capabilities. The approximately
90,000 square foot facility also includes officeldaboratory space.

CVT-301 is an inhaled formulation of levodopa, edapa, for the treatment of OFF episodes in Padkiissdisease. Parkinson’s
disease is a progressive neurodegenerative disasigiting from the gradual loss of certain neurorthe brain responsible for producing
dopamine. The disease is characterized by sympdanisas impaired ability to move, muscle stiffnasd tremor. The standard of care is
L-dopa, but there are significant challenges irating a dosing regimen that consistently maintttiesapeutic effects as Parkinson’s disease
progresses. The unpredictable re-emergence ofteymss referred to as an OFF episode, and custeategies for treating these OFF
episodes are widely regarded as inadequate.

CVT-301 is based on the proprietary ARCUS technplolgtform that we acquired with Civitas. The ARSltechnology is a dry-
powder pulmonary delivery system that we believe fatential applications in multiple disease areBss platform allows delivery of
significantly larger doses of medication than avegible with conventional dry powder formulation&his in turn provides the potential for
pulmonary delivery of a much wider variety of phacautical agents.

In December 2014, we announced that the first petias been enrolled in a Phase 3 study of CVT#80the treatment of OFF
episodes in Parkinson’s disease. We expect resoiftsthe efficacy trial in 2016, and plan to fdenew drug application, or NDA, in the U.S.
by the end of 2016. We expect that the NDA willfied under section 505(b)(2) of the Food Drug &ubmetic Act, referencing data from
branded L-dopa product Sinemet®. Based on Ciataderactions with the FDA, we believe a singlasth3 efficacy study will be needed for
filing an NDA. A separate long term safety studjl also be required. We are projecting that,gpeoved, annual peak sales of CVT-301 in
the U.S. alone could exceed $500 million.

In addition to CVT-301, we are exploring opportigstfor other proprietary products in which inhatedivery using our ARCUS
technology can provide a significant therapeuticdsit to patients. For example, we are currendlyedoping CVT-427, an inhaled triptan
intended to provide relief from acute migraine ediss by taking advantage of the ARCUS deliveryesyst Triptans are the class of drug mos
commonly prescribed to treat acute migraine. Oiafans, which account for approximately 98% oftafitan doses, can be associated with
slow onset of action and gastrointestinal challsngé@e slow onset of action, usually 30 minuteoger, can result in poor response rates.
Patients cite the need for rapid relief from migeasymptoms as their most desired medication at&ibAdditionally, individuals with migrair
may suffer from nausea and delayed gastric emptyimgh further impact the consistency and efficatyhe oral route of
administration. CVT-427 is currently in pre-clinldevelopment and we are preparing to file an Bid initiate the first Phase 1 clinical trial
for this program.
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Ampyra/Dalfampridine Development Programs

We believe there may be potential for dalfampridimée applied to neurological conditions in additto MS. In December 2014, we
announced that the first patient has been enrolledPhase 3 clinical trial evaluating the usealfainpridine administered twice daily (BID) to
improve walking in people who are suffering fronraitic post-stroke walking deficits (PSWD) after expncing an ischemic stroke. As part
of the trial design, we are planning to conduciraerim analysis of the trial data, and dependingte outcome of that analysis we may init
a second pivotal trial prior to the conclusionfué first Phase 3trial. We have been exploring a once-daily (QD)falation of dalfampridine
for use in the chronic post-stroke clinical prograBased on the results of an in-vitro alcohol ddgenping study and a subsequent fed-fasted
study, we determined that the initial QD formulatibat we had been developing with an externahpasvas not practical for further
testing. We are working with different externattpars to develop a new QD formulation that cowddrixluded in future post-stroke studies.

Plumiaz

We are developing Plumiaz, a proprietary nasalysfmanulation of diazepam, for the treatment of pleawith epilepsy who
experience seizure clusters, also known as acpétitige seizures. In 2013, we submitted a NewgDapplication (NDA) filing for Plumiaz t
the FDA. In May 2014, the FDA issued a Completspgoase Letter, or CRL, for the Plumiaz NDAVe have engaged with the FDA regarding
Plumiaz and expect to provide an update on thigraro in the second quarter of 2015

We have obtained orphan drug designation, whichldvoonfer seven years of market exclusivity frora ttate of approval for
diazepam containing drug products for the samesatitin. We licensed two patent families relatioghte clinical formulation for Diazepam
Nasal Spray, including a granted U.S. patent thaet to expire in 202 We anticipate that our current infrastructure capp®rt sales and
marketing of this product if it receives FDA appabvWe believe this product has the potentialdnegate peak annual sales significantly
higher than $100 million.

Cimaglermin alfa (also known as GGF2) /Neuregulins

Cimaglermin alfa, which we previously referred 80@GF2, is our lead product candidate for our rgpulie program. We have
completed a cimaglermin Phase 1 clinical trial éat failure patients. This was a dose-escaldtiabdesigned to test the maximum tolerated
single dose, with follow-up assessments at onegthand six months. Data from this trial showedse-related improvement in ejection
fraction in addition to safety findings. A dosesiting toxicity was also identified in the highgdanned dose cohort, specifically acute liver
injury meeting Hy’s Law for drug induced hepatotoy. In March 2015, we presented new analyseatatd from this trial at the American
College of Cardiology (ACC) 6#% Annual Scientific Session and Expo. These analimewd that cimaglermin produced a dose-dependent
benefit at multiple time points for up to three rtianfollowing a single infusion.

In October 2013, we announced that the first patiad been enrolled in a second clinical trialiofaglermin . This Phase 1b single-
infusion trial in people with heart failure is assig tolerability of three dose levels of cimagier, which were tested in the first trial, and ¢
includes assessment of drug-drug interactions eweral exploratory measures of efficacy. We valuit paused enroliment in this trial in
December 2013 pending review of additional nonictihdata with the FDA. In April 2014, we announdldt we had completed this review
and recruitment was thereafter resumed. We expaximplete this trial in the second half of 2016we are able to establish a proof of
concept for treatment of heart failure through horolnical studies, we may decide to develop tredpct independently or to enter into a
partnership, most likely with a cardiovascular-feed company.

Remyelinating Antibodies

rHIgM22 is the lead antibody in our remyelinatingibody program, and we are developing it as argititherapeutic for MS. We
believe a therapy that could repair myelin shehtissthe potential to restore neurological functmthose affected by demyelinating
conditions. In April 2013, we initiated a Phaselihical trial of rHIgM22 to assess the safety dolérability of rHIgM22 in patients with MS.
The study also included several exploratory clihitaaging and biomarker measure8/e announced top-line safety and tolerability ressinl
February 2015. The trial, which followed participgfor up to six months after receiving a singlsalof rHIgM22, found no dose-limiting
toxicities at any of the five dose levels studiéa April 2015, we presented additional safety datan this trial at the 67th American Academy
of Neurology Annual Meeting. The additional dat@wed that rHIgM22 was well-tolerated in each @& five doses, supporting additional
clinical development. In addition, testing detelctellgM22 in cerebrospinal fluid (CSF), indicatitfie drug’s access to the central nervous
system. Additional data from this trial will beggented at future medical meetings.
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Based on these data, we intend to advance clid@atlopment of rHIgM22 for MS. We expect to begisecond Phase 1 trial in relapsing MS
patients in the second quarter of 2015 , and we@xpial results in 2016.

Chondroitinase Program

We are continuing research on the potential usghofdroitinases for the treatment of injuries t Ibhain and spinal cord, as well as
other neurotraumatic indications. The chondrog@mprogram is in the research and translationaldpment phase and has not yet entered
formal preclinical development.

NP-1998

NP-1998 is a Phase 3 ready, 20% prescription stierapsaicin topical solution that we have beerssing for the treatment of
neuropathic pain. We acquired rights to NP-198&flNeurogesX, Inc. in 2013 in connection with ourghase of Qutenza, an FDA-approved
dermal patch containing 8% prescription strengghsa&in. We acquired development and commerci@izaights in the United States,
Canada, Latin America and certain other territoridstellas Pharma Europe Ltd. has an option teligpvNP-1998 in the European Economic
Area (EEA) including the 28 countries of the EurapéJnion, Iceland, Norway, and Liechtenstein ad a®lSwitzerland, certain countries in
Eastern Europe, the Middle East and Africa. Wedvelithis liquid formulation of the capsaicin-basleerapy has key advantages over the
Qutenza patch, and we believe NP-1998 has the tadtemtreat multiple neuropathies. However, vewéd evaluated and reprioritized our
research and development pipeline based on ountracquisition of Civitas, and as a result we haweurrent plans to invest in further
development of NP-1998 for neuropathic pain.

Corporate Facilities Update

We currently lease approximately 138,000 squaredieffice and laboratory space in Ardsley, NYur@ease for this facility includ
options to lease up to approximately 120,000 aatukti square feet of space in additional buildingda same location. In May 2014, we
notified the landlord that we were exercising optian to expand into an additional 25,405 squae¢ & office space. We occupied the
additional space in the first quarter of 2015.

Our 2014 acquisition of Civitas Therapeutics, lincluded a subleased manufacturing facility in Ghal Massachusetts with
commercial-scale capabilities. The approximat€lyp00 square foot facility also includes office daloloratory space. Civitas subleases the
Chelsea, Massachusetts facility from Alkermes, Tite sublease is an operating lease that was deldetduexpire on December 31, 2015. In
March 2015, Civitas exercised its right to extelmel term of the sublease for five additional yeandil December 31, 2020, and Civitas retains
the right to further extend the sublease beyontidate for another five year period. The baseigeatirrently $722,000 per year. For each
extension period, the economic terms of the subleals be determined by a process set forth insthiglease, and we will be required to pro
a letter of credit in an amount equal to the filefyear lease obligation for each lease extensiom@gend additional security. Alkermes lee
the building pursuant to an overlease with H&N Asates, LLC, and has extension rights pursuartigomverlease that correspond to Civitas’
extension rights under the sublease. Alkermes x@&gised a five-year extension option under thelease that corresponds with Civitas’
exercise of its five year extension option undergshblease. Pursuant to the sublease, Civitaagnased to comply with all of Alkermes’s
obligations under the overlease

Outlook for 2015
Financial Guidance for 2015
We are providing the following guidance with respcour 2015 financial performance:

« We expect 2015 net revenue from the sale of Amfryrange from $405 million to $420 million.

» We expect Zanaflex (tizanidine hydrochloride) are eS. Fampyra (prolonged-release fampridine tap2®15 revenue to be
approximately $25 million, which includes net sadé®randed Zanaflex products and royalties frortJe8. Fampyra and authorized
generic tizanidine hydrochloride capsule se

« Research and development (R&D) expenses in 201&xgexted to range from $150 million to $160 milli@xcluding share-based
compensation charges and expenditures relatee goatential acquisition of new products or othesibess development

activities. The increase in research and developexpenses in 2015 is primarily related to Phast@ies of dalfampridine and
CVT-301. Additional expenses include continued devalapmt of
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Plumiaz, clinical trials for cimaglermin alfa (pieusly GGF2) and rHIgM22 and CVT-427, as well ongppreclinical studies.

« Selling, general and administrative expenses (SG&A&015 are expected to range from $180 millio8180 million, excluding
shar-based compensation chargeWe are setting a high priority on managing selligeneral and administrative expenses in 2

We are evaluating the impact of recent events ¢h B&D and SG&A expenses for 2015, and will provadeupdate on our next
earnings call if there are any changes to guidance.

The range of SG&A and R&D expenditures for 2015raye-GAAP financial measures because they exclhdeeshased
compensation charges and certain non-cash expeiaes] to the Civitas acquisition. Non-GAAP figa@l measures are not an alternative for
financial measures prepared in accordance with GAWBwever, we believe the presentation of these@AAP financial measures, when
viewed in conjunction with actual GAAP results, yides investors with a more meaningful understamaihour projected operating
performance because they exclude non-cash chdrgieare substantially dependent on changes in #énkanprice of our common stock. We
believe that non-GAAP financial measures that ekelshare-based compensation charges and certairashrexpenses related to the Civitas
acquisition help indicate underlying trends in our business, @ important in comparing current results witlopperiod results and
understanding expected operating performance. , Alsomanagement uses non-GAAP financial meashe¢®kclude share-based
compensation charges and certain non-cash expelate to the Civitas acquisitiono establish budgets and operational goals, and to
manage our business and to evaluate its performance

Development Pipeline Goals
Our planned goals and key initiatives with respeaiur pipeline during 2015 and beyond are as ¥sto

« Continue progressing our Phase 3 efficacy andysafaties of CVT-301 for the treatment of OFF egiesoin Parkinsos’ disease. W
expect results from the efficacy trial in 2016, gotah to file a new drug application, or NDA, ireth).S. by the end of 201

« Continue progressing our Phase 3 clinical triakasimg the use of a once-daily (BID) formulatiordaffampridine as a treatment for
chronic post-stroke walking deficits (PSWD) aftgperiencing an ischemic stroke. A s part of tied tlesign, we are planning to
conduct an interim analysis of the trial data, deadending on the outcome of that analysis we miéigti a second pivotal trial prior
to the conclusion of the first Phaset8al. We are working with different external paets to develop a once-daily (QD) formulation
that could be included in future p-stroke studies

« We are developing Plumiaz, a proprietary nasalysfimanulation of diazepam, for the treatment of ppleowith epilepsy who
experience seizure clusters, also known as acpéditige seizures. In 2013, we submitted a NewgDhpplication (NDA) filing for
Plumiaz to the FDA. In May 2014, the FDA issue@anplete Response Letter, or CRL, for the PlumiBAN We have engaged with
the FDA regarding Plumiaz and expect to provideaaate on this program in the second quarter 05201

« Complete our second clinical trial of cimaglermifagpreviously GGF2), a Phase 1b single-infusital tn people with heart failure
assessing the tolerability of three dose levelsimhglermin , and also includes assessment of drug-interactions and several
exploratory measures of efficacy. In October 2@&announced that the first patient had been kedrgi this clinical trial. We
voluntarily paused enrollment in this trial in Dedeer 2013 pending review of additional non-clinidata with the FDA. In April
2014, we announced that we had completed thiswearal recruitment was thereafter resumed. We éxpaomplete this trial in the
second half of 201¢

« Our Phase 1 clinical trial of rHIgM22 found no ddsmiting toxicities at any of the five dose levedtidied. In addition, testing
detected rHIgM22 in cerebrospinal fluid (CSF), tating the drug’s access to the central nervousisysBased on these data, we
intend to advance clinical development of rHIgM®22 MS. We expect to begin a second Phase 1 tria@lapsing MS patients in the
second quarter of 20., and we expect trial results in 20.

« We are preparing an IND for and to initiate thetfiPhase 1 clinical trial of CV#27, an inhaled triptan intended to provide rdiiem
acute migraine episode
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Results of Operations
Three-Month Period Ended March 31, 2015 Compared to March 31, 2014

Net Product Revenur

Ampyra

We recognize product sales of Ampyra following iptef product by our network of specialty pharmacyviders, Kaiser
Permanente and ASD Specialty Healthcare, Inc. &degnized net revenue from the sale of Ampyraésdtcustomers of $92.4 million as
compared to $72.5 million for the three-month pasiended March 31, 2015 and 2014, respectivelinaaase of $19.9 million, or
27.4%. The net revenue increase was comprisedtafalume increases of $11.1 million due to gredésnand we believe due to, in part, the
success of certain marketing programs such asimir§tep and Step Together programs and priceases net of discount and allowance
adjustments of $8.8 million. Effective Januar®Q}15, we increased our sale price to our custoinel.95%.

Discounts and allowances which are included adfaetdn net revenue consist of allowances for @ungr credits, including estimat
chargebacks, rebates, discounts and returns. Dissand allowances are recorded following shiproéitmpyra tablets to our network of
specialty pharmacy providers, Kaiser PermanenteA8id Specialty Healthcare, Inc. Adjustments areréed for estimated chargebacks,
rebates, and discounts. Discounts and allowarnsesansist of discounts provided to Medicare bierafes whose prescription drug costs
cause them to be subject to the Medicare Part Brege gap (i.e., the “donut hole”). Payment ofezage gap discounts is required under the
Affordable Care Act, the health care reform ledistaenacted in 2010. Discounts and allowances imagase as a percentage of sales as we
enter into managed care contracts in the future.

The net revenue for the three-month period endeativial, 2015 decreased from net revenue of $108li@mfor the three-month
period ended December 31, 2014. We believe tleatidierease in net revenue between the fourth qudrd®14 and the first quarter of 2015
reflects certain recurring seasonal factors rajgtiinthe commencement of a new calendar year. eTiaesors include patients switching
insurance plans or pharmacy benefit providers at-gad. Consequently, many patients must re-éstedligibility during the first few months
of the calendar year. Also, when deductibles ArdMedicare donut hole reset at the beginningettdiendar year, it can affect timely refills
for consumers with financial constraints. In additias in previous years, there was some invetoitg in the fourth quarter of 2014 that was
destocked during the first quarter.

Zanaflex

We recognize product sales of Zanaflex CapsuleZandflex tablets using a deferred revenue recognihodel where shipments to
wholesalers are recorded as deferred revenue dpdemognized as revenue when end-user prescriptbthe product are reported. We also
recognize product sales on the transfer price @dyet sold for an authorized generic of Zanaflepsides. We recognized net revenue from
the sale of Zanaflex Capsules and Zanaflex tabfe$691,000 for the three-month period ended M&th2015, as compared to $900,000 for
the three-month period ended March 31, 2014. Nedyart revenues also include $179,000 which repteska sale of our Zanaflex Capsules
authorized generic product to Actavis for the thmeenth period ended March 31, 2015 as compare836,800 for the three-month period
ended March 31, 2014. Generic competition hasathassignificant decline in sales of Zanaflex Cégrsand is expected to cause the
Company’s net revenue from Zanaflex Capsules tbraefurther in 2015 and beyond. The decreasetrrévenues was also the result of a
disproportionate increase in discounts and allowamtie to the mix of customers continuing to pwelaur product. These customers receive
higher levels of rebates and allowances.

Discounts and allowances, which are included asffset in net revenue, consist of allowances fatemer credits, including
estimated chargebacks, rebates, and discounts.

Qutenza
We recognize product sales of Qutenza followingigoof product by our specialty distributors. Véeagnized net revenue from the

sale of Qutenza of $222,000 and $209,000 for treetmonth periods ended March 31, 2015 and 20%geotively. For the foreseeable future
we do not expect that sales of this product wilterially contribute to our revenues.
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License Revent

We recognized $2.3 million in license revenue fa three-month periods ended March 31, 2015 and,26lhted to the $110.0
million received from Biogen in 2009 as part of @oilaboration agreement. We currently estimaterélsegnition period to be approximately
12 years from the date of the Collaboration Agremme

Royalty Revenu

We recognized $2.3 million and $2.4 million in rétyaevenue for the three-month periods ended M&t2015 and 2014,
respectively, related to ex-U.S. sales of Fampyr&ibgen.

We recognized $1.8 million and $1.4 million in rttyaevenue for the three-month periods ended M&%H015 and 2014,
respectively, related to the authorized generie slZanaflex Capsules.

Cost of Sales

We recorded cost of sales of $18.4 million for tinee-month period ended March 31, 2015 as compar$d5.5 million for the three-
month period ended March 31, 2014. Cost of salethk three-month period ended March 31, 2015istatsprimarily of $15.9 million in
inventory costs related to recognized revenuesst Qftsales for the three-month period ended M&igH2015 also consisted of $2.1 million in
royalty fees based on net product shipments, $0870amortization of intangible assets, and $8%j0(oeriod costs related to freight,
stability testing, and packaging. Cost of sales @tcluded $179,000, which represents the coganéflex Capsules authorized generic pro
sold for the three-month period ended March 315201

Cost of sales for the three-month period ended Madg 2014 consisted primarily of $12.7 millionimventory costs related to
recognized revenues. Cost of sales for the threetimperiod ended March 31, 2014 also consisté&d of million in royalty fees based on net
product shipments, $179,000 in amortization ofrigible assets, and $88,000 in period costs retatéeight, stability testing, and packaging.
Cost of sales also included $830,000, which repitesbe cost of Zanaflex Capsules authorized gepeoduct sold for the three-month period
ended March 31, 2014.

Cost of License Revenue

We recorded cost of license revenue of $159,00¢h®three-month periods ended March 31, 2015 8dd Zespectively. Cost of
license revenue represents the recognition of &#opoof the deferred $7.7 million paid to Alkermi@s2009 in connection with the $110.0
million received from Biogen as a result of ourlabbration agreement.

Research and Developme

Research and development expenses for the thoe¢h period ended March 31, 2015 were $30.6 mikis compared to $14.5 milli
for the three-month period ended March 31, 2014narease of approximately $16.1 million, or 111%he increase was primarily due to
$11.3 million in CVT-301 and CVT-427 expenses imedrin 2015 after the acquisition of Civitas in @mtr 2014. The increase was also due
to an increase in overall research and developstafft compensation and related expenses of $2libmio support the various research and
development initiatives related to our product pipge as well as increases in expenses for vaither research and development programs,
including $1.5 million related to our life cycle megement program for Ampyra, $795,000 in expenslasimg to our NP-1998 program, and
$333,000 related to our Chondroitinase programe ibrease in expenses related to our NP-1998 gomody primarily attributable to drug
supply purchase commitments made earlier in 204 fw the program re-prioritization. The incresg® research and development expense:s
for the three-month period ended March 31, 201%wpartially offset by a decrease of $359,000 rdlédethe Plumiaz program.

Selling, General and Administrative

Sales and marketing expenses for the three-momitdpended March 31, 2015 were $25.0 million coregao $26.6 million for the
three-month period ended March 31, 2014, a decrefeegproximately $1.6 million, or 6%. The decreasas attributable to a decrease of $1.
million for pre-launch activities associated willetpossible commercialization of Plumiaz and aese in overall marketing, selling,
distribution, and market research expenses for Amp¥$921,000. The decrease in sales and marketipenses was partially offset by an
increase in overall compensation, benefits, andrathblling expenses of $1.1 million, including sdierce incentive compensation.
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General and administrative expenses for the threettmperiod ended March 31, 2015 were $23.8 miiompared to $20.3 million
for the three-month period ended March 31, 2014narease of approximately $3.5 million, or 17%isTimcrease was primarily the result of
an increase of $4.2 million for staff and compeiosaeéxpenses and other expenses related to supgptine growth of the organization,
including the acquisition of Civitas in October 20and an increase of $836,000 in legal fees. iftreases in general and administrative
expenses for the three-month period ended MarcB@I5 were partially offset by a decrease of $lilliam for work on FDA post-approval
requirements for the Zanaflex franchise and $58BiA@rug safety and surveillance expenses.

Changes in Fair Value of Acquired Contingent Coasation

As a result of the original Civitas spin out of &lknes, part of the consideration to Alkermes whsgwae royalty to be paid to
Alkermes on Civitas products. Acorda acquired tmistingent consideration as part of the Civitaguigition. The fair value of that future
royalty will be assessed quarterly. We record88.4 million expense pertaining to changes in #ievalue of our acquired contingent
consideration as of March 31, 2015. The chang#serair-value of the acquired contingent consitien were due to the re-calculation of
discounted cash flows for the passage of time.rd@tere no other changes to the valuation techsiqguassumptions.

Other Income / Expense

Other expense was $3.9 million for the three-mamthod ended March 31, 2015 compared to other ircoh$80,000 for the three-
month period ended March 31, 2014, an increas@ &f Rillion. The increase was due to an increasetarest expense of $4.0 million,
principally related to the cash and non-cash postiof interest expense for the convertible senidesissued in June 2014 (the Notes). Interes
expense related to the Notes was $3.6 millionHerthree-month period ended March 31, 2015, of wttie noneash portion was $2.1 millio
We will report interest expense in future quartdrbetween $3.6 million and $4.3 million relatedhe Notes.

Provision for Income Taxe

For the three-month periods ended March 31, 208528144, the Company recorded a $2.0 million berfiefin and $2.8
million provision for income taxes, respectivelgsied upon its estimated tax liability for the ye@he provision for income taxes is based on
federal, state and Puerto Rico income taxes. Tieetafe income tax rates for the Company for the¢hmonth periods ended March 31, 2015
and 2014 were 40% and 80%, respectively. As atretihe Federal research and development taxtanetibeing extended during the first
quarter of 2015, the Company was not able to recailienefit in the effective tax rate for this 018. The Company, however, was able to
receive a benefit in the effective tax rate for 2@dr the Massachusetts state research and devetdpax credit in addition to the Federal
orphan drug credit.

We continue to evaluate the realizability of them@any’s deferred tax assets and consider all daikevidence, both positive and
negative, to determine whether, based on the weigthiat evidence, a valuation allowance will bguieed to reduce the deferred tax assets tc
the amount that is more likely than not to be mealiin future periods.

Liquidity and Capital Resources

Since our inception, we have financed our operatfimarily through private placements and pubfferings of our common stock
and preferred stock, a convertible debt offerirayrpents received under our collaboration and licgnagreements, sales of Ampyra and
Zanaflex Capsules, and, to a lesser extent, framspgovernment grants and our financing arrangewiém Paul Royalty Fund (PRF).

We were cash flow positive in 2014 and, at MarchZ115, we had $299.7 million of cash, cash egaival and short-term
investments, compared to $307.6 million at Decenie”014. We expect to remain cash flow positive015. We believe that we have
sufficient cash, cash equivalents and short-texmastments on hand, in addition to cash expectée wenerated from operations, to fund our
operations, including our currently anticipated @lepment pipeline activities as currently planned.

Our future capital requirements will depend on mhbar of factors, including the amount of revenueegated from sales of Ampyra,
the continued progress of our research and developattivities, the amount and timing of milestan®ther payments payable under
collaboration, license and acquisition agreemehiscosts involved in preparing, filing, prosecgtimaintaining, defending and enforcing
patent claims and other intellectual property sglaind capital required or
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used for future acquisitions or to in-license neadoicts and compounds including the developmentsaetating to those products or
compounds. To the extent our capital resourcematdficient to meet future operating requirememéswill need to raise additional capital,
reduce planned expenditures, or incur indebtedioefssd our operations. If we require additionakncing in the future, we cannot assure yol
that it will be available to us on favorable termsat all.

Financing Arrangement
Saints Capital Notes

In January 1997, Elan International Services, (ES) loaned us an aggregate of $7.5 million purstmtwo convertible promissory
notes to partly fund our research and developmeitites. On December 23, 2005, Elan transfertesé promissory notes to funds affiliated
with Saints Capital. As of March 31, 2015, $2.2liom of these promissory notes was outstandingclvamount includes accrued interest.
fifth of seven annual payments on this note wasahgepaid on the five year anniversary of Ampyrarapal on January 22, 2015 and will
continue to be paid annually until paid in full.

Zanaflex Revenue Interests Assignment

On December 23, 2005, we entered into a revenaeesitassignment agreement with PRF, a dedicatdthbare investment fund,
pursuant to which we assigned to PRF the rightgortion of our net revenues (as defined in theagent) from Zanaflex Capsules, Zanaflex
tablets and any future Zanaflex products. To seour obligations to PRF, we also granted PRF aréggadnterest in substantially all of our
assets related to Zanaflex. Our agreement with &RErs all Zanaflex net revenues generated froroligctl, 2005 through and including
December 31, 2015, unless the agreement termieatiear. In November 2006, we entered into an ammamd to the revenue interest
assignment agreement with PRF. Under the termsecitnendment, PRF paid us $5.0 million in Noven28&6. An additional $5.0 million
was due to us if net revenues during the fiscat 2686 equaled or exceeded $25.0 million. This shilre was met and the receivable was
reflected in our December 31, 2006 financial statetss Under the terms of the amendment, we refRiI$5.0 million on December 1, 2009
and an additional $5.0 million on December 1, 26ih@e the net revenues milestone was met. In Noee2ml4, PRF sold its Zanaflex
revenue interest to Valeant Pharmaceuticals Intiem, Inc.

Under the revenue interests assignment agreemérharamendment, PRF was entitled to, and now &sPRiccessor, Valeant is
entitled to the following portion of Zanaflex netvenues:

» with respect to Zanaflex net revenues up to anididiieg $30.0 million for each fiscal year duringtterm of the agreement, 15%
of such net revenue

» with respect to Zanaflex net revenues in exce$30f0 million but less than and including $60.0lianil for each fiscal year
during the term of the agreement, 6% of such netmees; an

» with respect to Zanaflex net revenues in exce§60f0 million for each fiscal year during the teofrthe agreement, 1% of such
net revenues

Notwithstanding the foregoing, once PRF and ValeasPRF's successor, have received and retairyedgmas under the agreement
that are at least 2.1 times the aggregate amourfpaRl us under the agreement, Valeant will onlgiiitled to 1% of Zanaflex net revenues.
In connection with the transaction, we recordei@bility as of March 31, 2015, referred to as teeenue interest liability, of approximately
$749,000. We impute interest expense associatédting liability using the effective interest rateethod and record a corresponding accrued
interest liability. The effective interest ratecalculated based on the rate that would enablddbeto be repaid in full over the life of the
arrangement. The interest rate on this liabilityymary during the term of the agreement depending aumber of factors, including the level
of Zanaflex sales. We currently estimate that thptited interest rate associated with this liabiltlf be approximately 5.8%. Payments made
to Valeant as a result of Zanaflex sales levelsr@tluce the accrued interest liability and thegpal amount of the revenue interest liability.

Upon the occurrence of certain events, includinggfexperience a change of control, undergo ceb@nkruptcy events, transfer any
of our interests in Zanaflex (other than pursuard ticense agreement, development, commerciaizatio-promotion, collaboration,
partnering or similar agreement), transfer alluvstantially all of our assets, or breach certéithe covenants, representations or warrantie
make under the agreement, Valeant may (i) requit® uepurchase the rights we sold them at the¢alliprice”in effect on the date such ric
is exercised or (ii) foreclose on the Zanaflex tsHeat secure our obligations to Valeant. Excephé case of certain bankruptcy events, if
Valeant exercises its right, which we
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refer to as Valeand’put option, to cause us to repurchase the ngatassigned to it, Valeant may not foreclose unkes$ail to pay the put/ce
price as required. If we experience a change ofrobwe have the right, which we refer to as odt aption, to repurchase the rights we sold
under the revenue interests assignment agreemtrd ‘giut/call price’in effect on the date such right is exercised. pinécall price on a give
date is the greater of (i) all payments made by/FRIEant to us as of such date, less all paymewgtsived by PRF/Valeant from us as of such
date, and (ii) an amount that would generate arral rate of return to PRF/Valeant of 25% on alfpents made by PRF/Valeant to us as of
such date, taking into account the amount and grofrall payments received by PRF/Valeant fromsisfassuch date. We have determined the
Valeant’s put option and our call option meet theda to be considered an embedded derivativeshondld be accounted for as such. As of
March 31, 2015, we have no liability recorded rsieto the put/call option to reflect its currentirasited fair value. This liability is revalued on
an as needed basis to reflect any changes initheafae and any gain or loss resulting from theateation is recorded in earnings.

Convertible Senior Notes

In June 2014, the Company entered into an undémgradgreement (the Underwriting Agreement) with Mergan Securities LLC
(the Underwriter) relating to the issuance by tlen@any of $345 million aggregate principal amourit.@5% Convertible Senior Notes due
2021 (the Notes) in an underwritten public offermgsuant to the Company’s Registration Statemerfam S-3 (the Registration Statement)
and a related preliminary and final prospectus Bmpent, filed with the Securities and Exchange Cassian (the Offering). The principal
amount of Notes included $45 million aggregate @pal amount of Notes that was purchased by theedmdter pursuant to an option granted
to the Underwriter in the Underwriting Agreemenhigh option was exercised in full. The net procefeds) the offering, after deducting the
Underwriter’s discount and the offering expensad pg the Company, were approximately $337.5 millio

The Notes are governed by the terms of an indendated as of June 23, 2014 (the Base Indentucedhanfirst supplemental
indenture, dated as of June 23, 2014 (the Supplainedenture, and together with the Base IndenthesIndenture), each between the
Company and Wilmington Trust, National Associatias trustee (the Trustee). The Notes will be cdiblerinto cash, shares of the
Company’s common stock or a combination of cashsinades of the Company’s common stock, at the Coyipalection, based on an initial
conversion rate, subject to adjustment, of 23.4868es per $1,000 principal amount of Notes (whigiesents an initial conversion price of
approximately $42.56 per share), only in the follogvcircumstances and to the following extent:d@jing the five business day period after
any five consecutive trading day period (the “measwent period”) in which the trading price per $I0@rincipal amount of Notes for each
trading day of the measurement period was less3B&& of the product of the last reported sale poicthe Company’s common stock and the
conversion rate on each such trading day; (2) duaimy calendar quarter commencing after the catequiarter ending on September 30, 2014
(and only during such calendar quarter), if thé leported sale price of the common stock for asi€0 trading days (whether or not
consecutive) during a period of 30 consecutiveitigadays ending on, and including, the last tradiag of the immediately preceding calendal
quarter is greater than or equal to 130% of therersion price on each applicable trading day; (8@ Company calls any or all of the Notes
for redemption, at any time prior to the close v$iness on the scheduled trading day immediatelgguling the redemption date; (4) upon the
occurrence of specified events described in therihde; and (5) at any time on or after Decembef030 through the second scheduled
trading day immediately preceding the maturity date

The Company may not redeem the Notes prior to 20n2017. The Company may redeem for cash all drgbdhe Notes, at the
Company’s option, on or after June 20, 2017 iflds reported sale price of the Company’s commocokshas been at least 130% of the
conversion price then in effect for at least 2@itng days (whether or not consecutive) during alig@secutive trading day period (including
the last trading day of such period) ending witfiae trading days prior to the date on which thar@any provides notice of redemption at a
redemption price equal to 100% of the principal amaf the Notes to be redeemed, plus accrued apdid interest to, but excluding, the
redemption date.

The Company will pay 1.75% interest per annum @npitincipal amount of the Notes, payable semiaryirabrrears in cash on June
15 and December 15 of each year. The first paymastmade in December 2014 in the amount of $2lfbmiThe Notes will mature on June
15, 2021.

If the Company undergoes a “fundamental changetiédised in the Indenture), subject to certain éooass, holders may require the
Company to repurchase for cash all or part of tNeites in principal amounts of $1,000 or an integraltiple thereof. The fundamental char
repurchase price will be equal to 100% of the ppalcamount of the Notes to be repurchased, plosiad and unpaid interest to, but
excluding, the fundamental change repurchase Hateanake-whole fundamental change, as describéueitndenture, occurs and a holder
elects to convert its Notes in connection with soetkewhole fundamental change, such holder may be edtid an increase in the convers
rate as described in the Indenture.
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The Indenture contains customary terms and covsraantt events of default. If an event of defauliéothan certain events of
bankruptcy, insolvency or reorganization involvihg Company) occurs and is continuing, the Trulsterotice to the Company, or the hold
of at least 25% in principal amount of the outstagdNotes by notice to the Company and the Trustes, declare 100% of the principal of
and accrued and unpaid interest, if any, on alNbees to be due and payable. Upon such a dedaratiacceleration, such principal and
accrued and unpaid interest, if any, will be due payable immediately. Upon the occurrence of aedsents of bankruptcy, insolvency or
reorganization involving the Company, 100% of thiegpal and accrued and unpaid interest, if amyalb of the Notes will become due and
payable automatically. Notwithstanding the foreggithe Indenture provides that, to the extent thm@any elects and for up to 270 days, the
sole remedy for an event of default relating tdaiarfailures by the Company to comply with certegporting covenants in the Indenture
consists exclusively of the right to receive aduditl interest on the Notes.

The Notes will be senior unsecured obligationswaitiddank equally with all of the Company’s existjrand future senior debt and
senior to any of the Company’s subordinated del. Notes will be structurally subordinated to aiséng or future indebtedness and other
liabilities (including trade payables) of the Compa subsidiaries and will be effectively subordathto the Company’s existing or future
secured indebtedness to the extent of the valtleeafollateral. The Indenture does not limit theoant of debt that the Company or its
subsidiaries may incur.

In accounting for the issuance of the Notes, thm@any separated the Notes into liability and eqeitjwponents. The carrying
amount of the liability component was calculatedasuring the fair value of a similar liabilityathdoes not have an associated convertible
feature. The carrying amount of the equity componepresenting the conversion option was determioyededucting the fair value of the
liability component from the par value of the No#éssa whole. The excess of the principal amouttiefiability component over its carrying
amount, referred to as the debt discount, is ag®mitio interest expense over the seven-year tethedflotes using the effective interest
method. The equity component is not re-measurdaingsas it continues to meet the conditions foritgaelassification.

Our outstanding note balances as of March 31, 20bSisted of the following:

(In thousands) March 31, 201¢
Liability component:
Principal $ 345,00(
Less: debt discount, net (55,399
Net carrying amour $ 289,60°
Equity component $ 61,19¢

Investment Activitie

At March 31, 2015, cash, cash equivalents and $bort investments were approximately $299.7 millias compared to $307.6
million at December 31, 2014. Our cash and caskvalgunts consist of highly liquid investments withiginal maturities of three months or |
at date of purchase and consist of time depos@tsrarestments in a Treasury money market fund aBd'téasury bonds. Also, we maintain
cash balances with financial institutions in exagfsimsured limits. We do not anticipate any lossgéh respect to such cash balances. As of
March 31, 2015, our cash and cash equivalents $&k& million, as compared to $182.2 million aPecember 31, 2014. Our short-term
investments consist of US Treasury bonds with nagmaturities greater than three months and kess dne year. The balance of these
investments was $238.2 million as of March 31, 2@E5compared to $125.4 million as of Decembe814.

Net Cash (Used in) / Provided by Operatic

Net cash used in operations was $9.2 million ferttiree-month period ending March 31, 2015 whil@ $dillion was provided by
operations in the three-month period ended Mar¢t2814. Cash used in operations for the three-mpeatind ended March 31, 2015 was
primarily due to a net increase in working capitins of $13.8 million primarily attributable to @crease in inventory held by the compan
net loss of $3.1 million principally resulting froam overall increase in operating expenses, a deeria deferred license revenue of $2.3
million due to the amortization of the upfront atlbration payment received during the three-moatfod ended September 30, 2009, and a
deferred tax benefit of $2.0 million. Cash usedperations was partially offset by a non-cash sbased compensation expense of $7.1
million, depreciation and amortization of $3.7 maifl, a non-cash charge for the change in the cgatinconsideration obligation of $3.1
million, and amortization of the debt discount aledbt issuance costs of $2.1 million.
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Cash provided by operations for the three-montiodeended March 31, 2014 was primarily due to a-cash share-based
compensation expense of $5.8 million, a deferregtavision of $2.8 million, depreciation and animation of $1.8 million, and net income of
$0.7 million principally resulting from an increasenet product revenues. Cash provided by operaticas partially offset by a net increase in
working capital items of $5.4 million primarily atiutable to an increase in inventory held by thmpany and a decrease in accounts payabls
resulting from payment timing.

Net Cash Used in Investil

Net cash used in investing activities for the thmeanth period ended March 31, 2015 was $116.0anillprimarily due to
$169.6 million in purchases of investments, purelasf property and equipment of $2.6 million, andcpases of intangible assets of $0.2
million, partially offset by $56.3 million in proeels from maturities and sales of investments.

Net Cash Provided by Financii

Net cash provided by financing activities for thesie-month period ended March 31, 2015 was $4 omiprimarily due to
$4.7 million in net proceeds from the issuancearnhmon stock and exercise of stock options partiafiiget by $0.1 million in repayments to
PRF.

Contractual Obligations and Commitments

A summary of our minimum contractual obligationkted to our major outstanding contractual committeés included in our
Annual Report on Form 10-K for the year ended Ddmam31, 2014. Our long-term contractual obligatiomdude commitments and estimated
purchase obligations entered into in the normatsmof business. Under certain supply agreementeter agreements with manufacturers
and suppliers, we are required to make paymenthiégomanufacture and supply of our clinical andrappd products. During the three-month
period ended March 31, 2015, commitments relatedegurchase of inventory decreased as comparf@ddember 31, 2014. As of March 31,
2015, we have inventory-related purchase commitstetaling approximately $29.3 million.

Under certain agreements, we are required to pgities for the use of technologies and productuinR&D activities and in the
commercialization of products. The amount and tgrofiany of the foregoing payments are not knowa uthe uncertainty surrounding the
successful research, development and commercializat the products.

Under certain agreements, we are also requiredytdigense fees and milestones for the use of tdobies and products in our
R&D activities and in the commercialization of pumts. As of March 31, 2015, we have committed t&er@otential future milestone
payments to third parties of up to approximatelg®nillion as part of our various collaborationg;luding licensing and development
programs. This represents a decrease of approxin&88 million as compared to December 31, 2014, uthe termination of certain license
agreements. Payments under these agreements gehecaime due and payable only upon achievemecertdin developmental, regulatory
commercial milestones. Because the achievemehesttmilestones had not occurred as of March 35, Zuch contingencies have not been
recorded in our financial statements. Amounts eelab contingent milestone payments are not coresideontractual obligations as they are
contingent on the successful achievement of cedmielopment, regulatory and commercial milestomasre is uncertainty regarding the
various activities and outcomes needed to readtethelestones, and they may not be achieved.

Our 2014 acquisition of Civitas included a subleas@nufacturing facility in Chelsea, Massachusegitis commercial-scale
capabilities. The approximately 90,000 square faoiity also includes office and laboratory spac&vitas subleases the Chelsea,
Massachusetts facility from Alkermes, Inc. The salsk is an operating lease that was schedulegit@ @n December 31, 2015. In March
2015, Civitas exercised its right to extend thentef the sublease for five additional years, ungcember 31, 2020, and Civitas retains the
right to further extend the sublease beyond tht fta another five year period. The base rentirsently $722,000 per year. For each
extension period, the economic terms of the subleals be determined by a process set forth insthiglease, and we will be required to pro
a letter of credit in an amount equal to the filefyear lease obligation for each lease extensiom@gend additional security. Alkermes lee
the building pursuant to an overlease with H&N Asates, LLC, and has extension rights pursuartieomverlease that correspond to Civitas’
extension rights under the sublease. Alkermes kagised a five-year extension option under thelease that corresponds with Civitas’
exercise of its five year extension option undergbblease. Pursuant to the sublease, Civitaagnaed to comply with all of Alkermes'’s
obligations under the overlease
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Critical Accounting Policies and Estimates

Our critical accounting policies are detailed im dmnual Report on Form 10-K for the year endedddelser 31, 2014. As of March
31, 2015, our critical accounting policies have cittnged materially from December 31, 2014.

ltem 3. Quantitative and Qualitative Disclosures Aout Market Risk

Our financial instruments consist of cash equivigleshort-term investments, grants receivable, edible notes payable and accounts
payable. The estimated fair values of all of onaficial instruments approximate their carrying galat March 31, 2015.

We have cash equivalents and short-term investna¢mtrch 31, 2015, which are exposed to the imphictterest rate changes and
our interest income fluctuates as our interessral@nge. Due to the nature of our investmentsonay market funds and US Treasury bonds,
the carrying value of our cash equivalents andtsieom investments approximate their fair valudarch 31, 2015. At March 31, 2015, we
held $299.7 million in cash, cash equivalents dmaitsterm investments which had an average inteagstof approximately 0.1%.

We maintain an investment portfolio in accordand wur investment policy. The primary objectiveafr investment policy is to
preserve principal, maintain proper liquidity ancheet operating needs. Although our investmemrtsalject to credit risk, our investment
policy specifies credit quality standards for awdstments and limits the amount of credit expofam any single issue, issuer or type of
investment. Our investments are also subject &rést rate risk and will decrease in value if maikierest rates increase. However, interest
rate risk is mitigated due to the conservative retund relatively short duration of our investmelt& do not own derivative financial
instruments. Accordingly, we do not believe thatréhis any material market risk exposure with resfmederivative or other financial
instruments.

Item 4. Controls and Procedures
Evaluation of disclosure controlsand procedures

As required by Rule 13a-15 under the SecuritieshBrge Act of 1934 (the “Exchange Act”) we carried an evaluation of the
effectiveness of our disclosure controls and pracesias defined in Rules 13a-15(e) and 15d-15@gnuhe Exchange Act, as of the end of th
first quarter of 2015, the period covered by tligart. This evaluation was carried out under theestision and with the participation of our
management, including our chief executive officed aur chief financial officer. Based on that ewdion, these officers have concluded that,
as of March 31, 2015, our disclosure controls anndgdures were effective to achieve their statefgae.

Disclosure controls and procedures are controlso#imer procedures that are designed to ensurénfioatnation required to be
disclosed in our reports filed or submitted undher Exchange Act is recorded, processed, summaaizetdeported within the time periods
specified in the SEC'’s rules, regulations, and frBisclosure controls and procedures include,awittimitation, controls and procedures
designed to ensure that information required tdibelosed in our reports filed or submitted under Exchange Act is accumulated and
communicated to management, including our chietetree officer and chief financial officer, as appriate, to allow timely decisions
regarding disclosure.

Changein internal control over financial reporting

In connection with the evaluation required by Exx@Act Rule 13d5(d), our management, including our chief exeeutfficer anc
chief financial officer, concluded that there warechanges in our internal control over finanocgdorting during the quarter ended March 31,
2015, that have materially affected, or are redslgriikely to materially affect, our internal controver financial reporting.
Limitations on the effectiveness of controls

Our disclosure controls and procedures are designprbvide reasonable, not absolute, assurant¢hhabjectives of our disclosure

control system are met. Because of inherent lifoitatin all control systems, no evaluation of colstican provide absolute assurance that all
control issues, if any, within a company have beéetected.
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PART II—OTHER INFORMATION
Item 1. Legal Proceedings
Apotex

In August 2007, we received a Paragraph IV Cedtion Notice from Apotex Inc., advising that it hewbmitted an Abbreviated New
Drug Application, or ANDA, to the FDA seeking matke approval for generic versions of Zanaflex Gags. In response to the filing of the
ANDA, in October 2007, we filed a lawsuit againgigtex in the U.S. District Court for the Distridtew Jersey asserting infringement of
U.S. Patent No. 6,455,557. In September 2011Cthet ruled against us and, following our appealjune 2012 the U.S. Court of Appeals for
the Federal Circuit affirmed the decision. We ddd seek any further appeal of the decision. Qute®eber 6, 2011, we filed a citizen petition
with the FDA requesting that the FDA not approveofgx’s ANDA because of public-safety concerns alfqdtex’s proposed drug. On
December 2, 2011, Apotex filed suit against usiem.S. District Court for the Southern Districtéw York. In that suit, Apotex alleged,
among other claims, that we engaged in anticonipetitehavior and false advertising in connectiothwlie development and marketing of
Zanaflex Capsules, including that the citizen pmtitve filed with the FDA delayed FDA approval opdtex’s generic tizanidine capsules. On
January 26, 2012, we moved to dismiss or stay Af@griit. On February 3, 2012, the FDA deniedditizen petition that we filed and
approved Apotex’s ANDA for a generic version of Af8lax Capsules. On February 21, 2012, Apotex flecamended complaint that
incorporated the FDA action, but otherwise madegaitions similar to the original complaint. Redadgudicial remedies include monetary
damages, disgorgement of profits, recovery ofdiiign costs, and injunctive relief. Following diling of a motion to dismiss the amended
complaint, in 2013 the Court dismissed five of ¢sirecounts in the amended complaint, includingpthe antitrust claims, leaving only a cle
under the Lanham Act relating to alleged produotmpstional activities. In October 2014, the Coudrged our motion for summary judgment
against Apotex’s remaining claim. On NovemberZil 4, Apotex filed a Notice of Appeal to the Sec@ictuit Court of Appeals seeking an
appeal of both the motion to dismiss and summatgment decisions. The Company will defend itsgjbvously throughout the appeal
process.

Ampyra Patents

In June and July of 2014, we received eight sepdtatagraph IV Certification Notices from Accordatthcare, Inc., Actavis FL, Inc
Alkem Laboratories Ltd., Apotex, Inc., Aurobindodma Ltd., Mylan Pharmaceuticals, Inc., Roxane lkatosies, Inc., and Teva
Pharmaceuticals USA, Inc., advising that each eé¢hcompanies had submitted an ANDA to the FDAisgeakarketing approval for generic
versions of Ampyra (dalfampridine) Extended ReleBailets, 10 mg. The ANDA filers have challengiee validity of our Orange Booksted
patents for Ampyra, and they have also assertédjéreeric versions of their products do not inferggrtain claims of these patents. In
response to the filing of these ANDAs, in July 20W4 filed lawsuits against these generic pharmi@aumanufacturing companies in the U
District Court for the District of Delaware assegiinfringement of our U.S. Patent Nos. 5,540,%3807,826, 8,354,437, 8,440,703, and
8,663,685. Requested judicial remedies includevery of litigation costs and injunctive reliefclnding a request that the effective date of
any FDA approval for these generic companies toanage, offer for sale, sell, market, distributeingport the proposed generic products be
no earlier than the dates on which the Ampyra Ceamgpk listed patents expire, or any later expradf exclusivity to which we are or
become entitled. On April 22, 2015, the Districtutt issued a scheduling order with respect teight generic challengers. Pursuant to the
scheduling order, a Markman hearing is currenthesltled for March 7, 2016, and the patent trigkiseduled to start on September 19,
2016. We filed these lawsuits within 45 days fritva date of receipt of each of the Paragraph I\tif@éetion Notices. As a result, a 30 month
statutory stay of approval period applies to eddh® ANDAs under the Hatch-Waxman Act. The 30 thatay starts from January 22, 2015,
which is the end of the new chemical entity (NCilesivity period for Ampyra. This restricts th®E from approving the ANDAs until July
2017 at the earliest, unless a Federal districttdssues a decision adverse to all of our ass@tadge Book-listed patents prior to that date.

In August 2014, Mylan Pharmaceuticals, Inc. angh@sent, Mylan, Inc. (collectively, “Mylan”), filed motion challenging the
jurisdiction of the U.S. District Court for the it of Delaware. On January 14, 2015, the Cdartied Mylar's motion to dismiss with
respect to the ANDA filer, Mylan Pharmaceuticals;.| On January 30, 2015, the Court granted Myleetsiest for an interlocutory appeal of
its jurisdictional decision to the Federal CiroGiturt of Appeals. The Company will defend itseéfarously throughout the appeal
process. Due to Mylan’s motion to dismiss, we #ilsal another patent infringement suit against dyin the U.S. District Court for the
Northern District of West Virginia asserting thersaU.S. Patents and requesting the same judidief &s in the Delaware action. (

December 17, 2014, we filed a motion in the NomhBistrict of West Virginia to stay that actiondeference to the Delaware proceeding and
until the issue of jurisdiction has been decidéuh February 11, 2014, the District Court for thertNern District of West Virginia granted
Acorda’s motion to stay the proceeding in thatrdisuntil the Federal Circuit Court of Appeals dhzs Mylan’s
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appeal of Delaware’s jurisdictional decision. Taent infringement case against Mylan, howevaestilisproceeding in Delaware along with
the other seven generics at the present time.

On May 6, 2015, we received a Paragraph IV Cedtiiicn Notice from Sun Pharmaceutical Industriesitéah or Sun
Pharmaceuticals, advising that it had submitte\ldBA to the FDA seeking marketing approval for angdc version of Ampyra
(dalfampridine) Extended Release Tablets, 10 mg Fharmaceuticals has challenged the validitpof 6f our five Orange Book-listed
patents for Ampyra, and did not file against ous LPatent No. 5,540,938, and they have also adgbeéegeneric versions of their products
may not infringe certain claims of these patem& have 45 days from the date of receipt of thim@aph IV Certification Notice to file suit
U.S. District Court, which will institute a 30 mdnstatutory stay of approval period to the Sun AND#Aler the HatcWaxman Act. Since th
Sun Pharmaceuticals ANDA was filed after January2®25, which is the end of the new chemical eftt€E) exclusivity period for Ampyr:
the 30 month statutory stay of approval will sfew the receipt of the Paragraph IV Certificatatice. This restricts the FDA from
approving the ANDA until November 2017 at the essij unless a Federal district court issues a idecilverse to all of our asserted Orange
Book-listed patents prior to that dat&Ve are currently reviewing the Paragraph IV Cexdifion Notice.

On February 10 and 27, 2015, a hedge fund (actittgaffiliated entities and individuals and proceegdunder the name of the
Coalition for Affordable Drugs) filed two separatéer partesreview (IPR) petitions with the U.S. Patent anddEraark Office, challenging
U.S. Patent Nos. 8,663,685, and 8,007,826, whietven of the five Ampyra Orange Book-listed patelt® will oppose the requests to
institute these two IPRs, and if they are allone@roceed, we will oppose the full proceedings defénd our patents. The 30-month statutory
stay period based on patent infringement suitd fie Acorda against ANDA filers is not impactedthgse filings, and remains in effect.

We will vigorously defend our intellectual properights.
Item 1A. Risk Factors

In addition to the other information set forth mstreport, you should carefully consider the fasétors discussed in Part I, Item 1A.
Risk Factors, in our Annual Report on Form 10-Ktfug year ended December 31, 2014, as updatedsbiyeim 1A, all of which could
materially affect our business, financial conditmrfuture results. These risks are not the ordigsrfacing our Company. Additional risks and
uncertainties not currently known to us or thatouerently deem to be immaterial also may materiatlyersely affect our business, financial
condition and/or operating results. Followingtie testated text of certain risk factors, and &l risk factors, to report changes since our
publication of risk factors in our 2014 Annual Repan Form 10-K.

The approval of Zanaflex Capsulesis subject to certain post-approval regulatory requirements that we have not completed, and we may be
subject to penalties if we fail to comply with these requirements and our Zanaflex products could be subject to enforcement actions or
withdrawal from the market.

We have an outstanding FDA commitment, inheritedifAlkermes (formerly Elan), to provide an asses#méthe safety and
effectiveness of Zanaflex Capsules in pediatricepés. This commitment, which is included in the AlBpproval for Zanaflex Capsules, wa:
be satisfied by February 2007. We provided regospe pediatric safety data to the FDA in April0Z0 However, we were not able to
complete the pediatric pharmacokinetic study byRebruary 2007 deadline due to delays in invesiigaicruitment and obtaining Institutional
Review Board approvals. The study was completedtaamdinal report submitted to the FDA in April 200The FDA reviewed our report
against new standards set out in the PediatricdRels&quity Act (PREA) and reauthorized by both2687 FDA Amendments Act (FDAAA)
and the 2012 Food and Drug Administration Safety lamovation Act (FDASIA) and concluded that thpad did not satisfy the commitmel
The FDA has informed us that a series of studisgded to further characterize the pharmacokinetitkdemonstrate the efficacy and long-
term safety of Zanaflex Capsules in children aggired to fulfill the pediatric commitment for Zdiex Capsules. In June 2011, the FDA
informally advised us that it would be amending pleeliatric commitment for Zanaflex Capsules to iega non-clinical juvenile toxicology
study, as well as formalize the timeline for thguieed pediatric studies. In December 2012, thé H3ued a formal written request that
confirmed the information in its informal June 2Q&fuest, and set forth specific deadlines fordygiired pediatric nonclinical and clinical
studies. In January 2013, we submitted a requestiting to the FDA to extend the deadlines fagdb studies, and in September 2014 we
received a “Denial of Deferral Request” letter freme FDA. We responded to this denial letter indber 2014, requesting the FDA to
reconsider the denial, which FDA again denied irdfi&2015. Subsequently in March 2015, we receivedtize of non-compliance with
PREA. In April 2015, we responded in writing togmotice and also submitted a request for waivenfithe pediatric commitments, and we
await a further response from the FDA. Additiopaind
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separate from the pediatric commitment, the FDAeddkr, and we have completed, a clinical electrdiogram study in adult humans to
investigate potential QT prolongation (heart rhytimaasure). The clinical study report has been gtdmirto the FDA and remains subject to
FDA review and potential FDA action based on itdew of the data. The remaining studies could loeen@xtensive and more costly than our
prior studies and might result in new data thatrenteconsistent with the current safety and effjcafile of the drug, which might require us
to change our product labeling and could harm prbdales. We also may be subject to penaltiesdomeeting our pediatric study
commitments, including a court-imposed injunctiorconduct studies.

Our business could be harmed by requirements to publicly disclose our clinical trial data.

There is an increasing trend across multiple jictszhs, including the United States and the EWaias requiring greater
transparency, particularly in the area of clinicill results. In the EU, for example, the Eurap&&edicines Agency, or EMA, has instituted a
new policy on transparency of clinical trial datdomitted to the agency in applications for markgtiuthorization. These data traditionally
have been regarded as confidential commercialrimdition not subject to disclosure. Although thecize implementation of the EMA’s new
policy remains in flux and subject to legal chagenit ultimately could result in the EMA'’s publiisclose of sponsor clinical study reports
and/or patient level data in some circumstancdss dould negatively impact our business in a waré ways, including for example through
disclosure of our trade secret methodologies faical development of our products, and/or by ptédly enabling competitors to use our
clinical data to gain approvals for their own protiuin the same or other jurisdictions. Regardéédew the EMA institutes its new policy,
trend across governments is for increased transpgrevhich could diminish our ability to protectrazonfidential commercial information.
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Iltem 6. Exhibits

Exhibit No . Description

10.1 Letter agreement dated March 25, 2015 betweenasiviherapeutics, Inc. and Alkermes, Inc. regardittgnsion of the
Sublease dated December 27, 2010, by and betwe#asClherapeutics, Inc. and Alkermes, |

10.2* Employment Agreement, dated as of May 13, 2014riy/between the Registrant and Andrew Hindr

31.1 Certification by the Chief Executive Officer pursiido Rule 13-14(a) under the Securities Exchange Act of 1!

31.2 Certification by the Chief Financial Officer pursudo Rule 13-14(a) under the Securities Exchange Act of 1!

32.1 Certification by the Chief Executive Officer pursiido 18 U.S.C. Section 1350, as adopted pursoadéttion 906 of the
Sarbane-Oxley Act of 2002

32.2 Certification by the Chief Financial Officer pursudo 18 U.S.C. Section 1350, as adopted pursoadéttion 906 of the
Sarbane-Oxley Act of 2002

101.INS** XBRL Instance Documer

101.SCH** XBRL Taxonomy Extension Schema Docum

101.CAL** XBRL Taxonomy Extension Calculation Linkbase Docuntr

101.DEF** XBRL Taxonomy Extension Definition Linkbase Docurh

101.LAB** XBRL Taxonomy Extension Label Linkbase Docum

101.PRE** XBRL Taxonomy Extension Presentation Linkbase Doent

* Indicates management contract or compensatory @iarrangement.

** |n accordance with Regulation S-T, the XBRL-re&d information in Exhibit 101 to this Quarterly fogt on Form 10-Q shall be deemed to
be “furnished” and not “filed.”
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SIGNATURES

Pursuant to the requirements of the Securities &xgh Act of 1934, the registrant has duly caussdréport to be signed on its ber

by the undersigned thereunto duly authorized.

Date: May 8, 201!

Date: May 8, 201!

ACORDA THERAPEUTICS, INC.

By: /s/ RoN COHEN
Ron Cohen, M.D.
President, Chief Executive Officer and Director
(Principal Executive Officer

By: /s| MICHAEL ROGERS
Michael Rogers
Chief Financial Officer
(Principal Financial and Accounting Office
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EXHIBIT 10.1

CIVITAS THERAPEUTICS, INC.
c/o ACORDA THERAPEUTICS, INC.
420 SAW MILL RIVER ROAD
ARDSLEY, NY 10502

March 25, 2015
Alkermes, Inc.
852 Winter Street

Waltham, Massachusetts 02451

Re: Brickyard Square Sublease ExtenSiption Exercise

Ladies and Gentlemen:

Reference is made to (i) the Asset Purchase areh&éc Agreement, as amended (the “ Alkermes Agreethedatec
December 27, 2010, by and between Alkermes, IndlK&rmes”) and Civitas Therapeutics, Inc., formerly known asr€gido
Therapedtics, Inc. (*_Civita§ and (ii) the Sublease (the_* Subled$edated December 27, 2010, by and between Alkermd
Civitas. Capitalized terms used but not define@imeshall have the meanings assigned to them iStiease.

Pursuant to Section 2(c) of the Sublease, and dakito account extensions of the deadline contaithedein in lette
agreements executed by Civitas and Alkermes onreee22, February 27, March 12, and March 19, 2@&5hereby exerci
our first Extension Option to extend the Term af Bublease for five years commencing upon the atkpir of the initial Term ¢
the Sublease expiring on December 31, 2015 (intil, december 31, 2020). We hereby waive your ail@n to exercise both (k
not the first) of the fivgrear Extension Options as required in connectiah wi sale of the Manufacturing Facility Equipr
pursuant to Section 2(c) of the Sublease and Se8tib3.2 of the Alkermes Agreement; provided, {lilayou shall exercise tl
first Overlease Extension Option to correspondup exercise of the first Extension Option under Sublease, and (ii) nothi
herein shall limit our right to exercise, and ydal remain subject to your obligations regarditige second Extension Optior
extend the Term of the Sublease for an additiamel fears commencing after the end of the firseksgion Period on Decem|
31, 2020 (i.e., until December 31, 2025), in eaadecin accordance with the terms of the Sublease.

Pursuant to our obligations to provide you with tE&tension Period Security under Section 2(c) of thubleas
simultaneously with the execution and delivery luf tletter agreement, we are providing you a latfecredit in the amount
$4,809,263 with a term not expiring before Decen81er2020. Such letter of credit is calculated Hasecalendar year 2015 cc
and expenses as follows:




Fixed Rent $722,105.28

Direct Expenses and utilities $239,747.40
Annual Total $961,852.68
Extension Period Security $4,809,263

We recognize that certain components of the ExtenBieriod Security for the first Extension Perimaluding Fixed Ren
have not been determined or are subject to chamgj¢he negotiations to determine such Fixed Rembagoing among you, |
and the Overlandlord. Upon the final determinatiéthe amount of such Extension Period Securitgdoordance with the ter|
of the Sublease and Section 13(B) of the Overlda$éf the amount of the Extension Period Securityeases above $4,809,z
we will amend such letter of credit to increaseaitsount or (b) if the amount of the Extension R&i&ecurity decreases bel
$4,809,263, we will amend such letter of creditdgcrease its amount, in each case, such letteredft avill be amended
accordance with the definition of Extension Pei&maturity in the Sublease.

We also note the references to an Extension SgdDéposit under Article 5 of the Sublease. Howgewasrthe parties ha
discussed, there is an ambiguity regarding the amdue for that security, because the Subleases ladttefinition of the ter
“Extension Security Deposit.Before the expiration date (i.e., December 31, 2@f5he letter of credit we issued to you as
Initial Security Deposit, we will issue you an dittial letter of credit with a term not expiring foee March 31, 202
representing the Extension Security Deposit, bt thuthe ambiguity in the Sublease the parties méljotiate in good faith
agree on the amount of the Extension Security Depa®vided, however, that such additional letvércredit representing t
Extension Security Deposit shall be in an amouress than $1,000,000.

In the event that any provision of this letter @gnent is construed to conflict with a provisiorilie Alkermes Agreement
the Sublease, the provision in this letter agred¢nseall control. This letter agreement (a) may Becated in one or mc
counterparts, and by different parties hereto gaste counterparts, each of which shall be deamneatiginal, but all of whic
together shall constitute one and the same instriynlie) may be executed and delivered by facsimilas an attachment to
email and upon such delivery the signature wilkdbemed to have the same effect as if the origigakhture had been deliver
(c) shall be governed by, interpreted, construatlenforced in accordance with the laws of the Commealth of Massachuse
excluding its conflict of laws rules to the extenich rules would apply the law of another juridgditt and (d) contains the ent
agreement and understanding between you and usregiiect to the subject matter hereof and supessaue prior discussic
agreement, understanding or arrangemelNbthing herein shall be deemed or construed ta lveaiver or amendment of &
provision of the Sublease or the Alkermes Agreemextept as expressly set forth herein and in dsgtr the specific matte
covered by the provisions hereof.

[Signatures Follow On a Separate Page]




Very truly yours,

CIVITAS THERAPEUTICS, INC.

By: /s/ David Lawrence

Name:David Lawrenc

Title: Chief of Business Operations, Acorda Thet#ps, Inc.
and Authorized Representative of Civitas Theragsutic.

ACCEPTED AND AGREED

ALKERMES, INC.

By: /s/ Michael Landine
Name: Michael Landin
Title: Senior Vice President

[ Signature Page to Brickyard Square Sublease Exdrr8ption Exercis]







EXHIBIT 10.2

AC@RDA

T HERA AP u

As Of May 13, 2014

Andrew Hindman
550 West 45th Street
#2903

New York, NY 1003¢

Dear Andrew:
We are delighted to present this letter agreenfégréement”), setting out the terms of your congdiemployment with
Acorda Therapeultics, Inc. (the "Company") as CBigfiness Development Officer. If these terms acepable, please sign and

date the copy of this letter provided herewith egtdrn it to me at your first convenience. If yacept the terms offered herein,
this Agreement shall be deemed to be effectivef day 13, 2014 (the "Effective Date").

1. Employment.

You will be employed by the Company as Chief BussnBevelopment Officer of the Company.

2. Base Salary.

In consideration for your services under this Agreat, you shall be paid an annual base salary@d,$00, to be paid in
accordance with the Company's standard payrolktipesc Your base salary shall be reviewed annigilthe President and Chief
Executive Officer and the compensation committe#hefBoard of Directors.

3. Annual Bonus.

You shall be eligible to receive an annual bonugaatof any bonus program implemented by the Bo&firectors in an
amount determined based on your performance.

4. Benefits; Perquisites; Reimbursement of Expense

In addition to those payments set forth above, sfmll be entitled to the following benefits and ipats:

(@) Employee Benefit Plans Generallyou shall be entitled to participate in all emye benefit plans which the
Company provides or may establish from time to tiorehe benefit of its senior executives.

(b)  Vacation. You shall be entitled to paid vacation in accoawith the Company's vacation policy for senior
managers as that policy may be amended from tirtient

(c) Perquisites and Reimbursement of Expendaxsi shall be entitled to all perquisites offetedsenior executives of
the Company. In addition, you shall be entitledgionbursement for all ordinary and reasonable dytezket business expenses
which are incurred by you in furtherance of the @any's business, in accordance with the policieptad from time to time by
the Company.




(d) InsuranceYou shall be covered by a Directors and Officewbllity Insurance policy that generally covers the
directors and officers of the Company, providedh®syCompany at its expense, for so long as the @ognpas such a policy in
place.

5. Stock Options, Stock Appreciation Rights and Restdted Stock Awards.

You shall be eligible to receive annual performabased stock option grants to purchase shareg @admpany's common
stock (“Options”), stock appreciation rights awaf8ARs”), and/or restricted stock awards of then@any's common stock
(“Stock Awards”). The number of annual Options, SARnd/or Stock Awards granted shall be deterniigsgd on the
achievement of individual performance objectivesem®mmended by the compensation committee anaagpiby the Board of
Directors and the Company's achievement of itssg@adl objectives. All such Options, SARs, and/ocsiAwards shall be
granted pursuant to and in accordance with thes@frthe Acorda Therapeutics, Inc. 2006 Employeeniive Plan as amended
(the “2006 Plan”), and/or any additional or replaest plan adopted by the Board (the "Plan(s)") pkas such terms may be
specifically modified herein. Unless otherwise pded for in any Option, SARs or Stock Awards agreetmall Options, SARs
and Stock Awards granted to you shall vest in Ifakquarterly installments, beginning with thetfulay of the quarter next
following the date the Option, SAR or Stock Awasdjranted.

6. Termination.

(@) Termination of Your Employment by the Company WitG@@ause or Voluntary Termination by You With Good
Reasor. If the Company terminates your employment withGatise or if you terminate your employment with Gé&®ason otht
than pursuant to subsection (c) of this Sectiahé&following shall apply:

@ The Company shall continue to paydo your base salary for a period ending on thikeeaf the date
that is twelve (12) months after you terminatehar date on which you obtain other, comparable eynpdmt (the
"Severance Period"). Such salary continuation payswill be paid at the time of the Company's stadgayroll during
the Severance Period, except as provided in thesestence. To the extent that the sum of youngatantinuation
payments that would otherwise be paid in the fircstmonths following your termination exceed thesker of (A) two time
your annual rate of pay (determined under Treag. B&.409A-1(b)(9)(ii)) and (B) two times the coemgation limit
under section 401 (a)(17) of the Internal RevenodeJthe "Code") for the year of your terminatisach excess shall not
be paid within the first six months of your termtioa and, instead, will be paid in the seventh rhafter your terminatic
of employment.

(i) The Company shall also pay you aumaqual to the target bonus for which you wouldehzeen
eligible for the year of termination pursuant te ttompany's then effective cash bonus plan, migltifdy a fraction, the
numerator of which shall be the number of dayfiindalendar year elapsed as of the terminationashatéhe denominat
of which shall be 365. Such payment shall be madka month next following the month of terminatiafnyour
employment.

(iii) If you or your eligible spouse addpendents timely elect COBRA Coverage, the Comphail pay
the monthly premiums for such coverage during #eefance Period; provided that, if you elect cogenander a
subsequent employer's group health insurance plangdthe Severance Period, payment of such premaiall cease
(but only to the extent applicable law would natg@ude payment of such premiums solely to you dhdra@xecutives).




(iv) The Options and SARs granted to kieteunder or under any other agreement that hastedras of the
termination date shall remain exercisable for 9sdallowing such date, provided that no OptionSaR will be
exercisable after the earlier of the latest datmuphich the award could have expired by its oagierms under any
circumstances (as determined under Section 4098e0€ode) or the 10th anniversary of the origirsedf grant. All
unvested Options, SARs and Stock Awards will becelied on the date of termination.

(V) The Company shall pay you for allesgland any other amounts earned but not paid faritarmination
including vacation and sick leave days that haweusd through the date of termination and havébaeh used. Payment
under this subsection (a)(v) shall be made atithe of the Company's standard payroll for the payga that includes the
date of termination of your employment.

(vi) The Company shall pay you for alhmbursable business expenses that you incur thrthegytate of
termination upon presentation of acceptable supgpdocumentation. Payment under this subsectiguiYahall be mad
within 10 days following your presentation of apmiiate supporting documentation but no later thaodnber 31 of the
year next following the year of termination of yamployment.

(b)  Termination of Your Employment by the Company Withse or by You Without Good Reasbime Company may
terminate your employment with Cause or you maigrewithout Good Reason at any time. In such case shall be paid all
amounts due for services rendered under this Aggaeap until the termination date at the time & @ompanys standard payrc
for the pay period that includes the date of teatian of your employment. Thereafter, no furtheymants shall be made to you
under this Agreement. All Options granted to yotebneder or under any other agreement that are yebyed as of the date of
your termination shall remain exercisable for nn@0) days from the termination date. If you digptihhe grounds for yot
termination, your vested Options will remain exsatile until ninety (90) days after the date theuts is resolved.
Notwithstanding the preceding, nho Option will beemisable after the earlier of the latest date upbich the award could ha
expired by its original terms under any circumsemn@s determined under section 409A of the Cadeeol 0t anniversary of
the original date of grant. All unvested Optio88Rs and Stock Awards shall be forfeited.

(c) Termination of Your Employment by the Company WitG@ause or Voluntary Termination by You With Good
Reason Following a Change in Contrlf the Company terminates your employment withoau§e or if you terminate your
employment with Good Reason within the first 18 therafter a Change in Control, the following slaglply:

@ The Company shall pay to you an anmt@gual to twenty-four (24) months of your basasa(the "CIC
Severance Period") in a lump sum in the month fadkawing the month of termination of your employntgexcept as
described in this paragraph. You shall be undeshbiigation to secure alternative employment duthgCIC Severance
Period, and payment of your base salary shall ldeméthout regard to any subsequent employmennyay obtain. To
the extent that salary continuation payments uSéetion 6(a)(i) would be delayed until the seventinth after
termination of employment if Section 6(a)(i) apgli® your termination of employment, the paymerdanthis Section 6
(c)(i) shall be delayed until the seventh montleraiérmination of employment.

(i) The Company shall also pay you aumaqual to two (2) times the target bonus for Wiyiou would
have been eligible for the year of termination parg to the Company's then-effective cash bonus gach payment
shall be made in the month next following the maofttermination of your employment.




(iir) If you or your eligible spouse addpendents timely elect COBRA Coverage, the Comphaif pay
the monthly premiums for such coverage during@h€ Severance Period; provided that, if you elect cagerunder a
subsequent employer's group health insurance plangdthe CIC Severance Period, payment of sucimipiras shall
cease (but only to the extent applicable law wawtpreclude payment of such premiums solely toama other
executives).

(iv) To the extent that your Options, SARs and Resttioteother Stock Awards have not fully vested at
the time of the termination of your employment,adlthe unvested Options, SARs and Restrictedlwrdstock Awards
granted to you hereunder or under any other agneteshallbecome immediately and fullyested (and, withespect to
Restricted Stock Awards, have tlestrictions removeds of the termination datend allvested Optionshallremain
exercisable for 18 monttisllowing suchdate, provided that (i) no Options or SAR will beecisable after the earlier of
the latest date upon which taerardcould have expired by its original terms under eingumstances (as determined ur
section 409A of the Code) or the 0anniversaryof the original dat®f grant and (ii) such acceleration of the vesting
shall not be applicable to your Special New Hireahdls (as defined below) if those awards are fadedtnd terminate in
connection with a Change in Control as providethenagreements for such Special New Hire Awards. used in this
clause (iv), “Special New Hire Awards” refersttee Option for 27,768 shares of the Company’s comstock and the
Restricted Stock Award of 9,256 shares of the Camisacommon stock that were granted to you on tifiecEve Date
and which by their terms are scheduled to veatliroh the third anniversary of the Effective Date.

(V) The Company shall pay you for allesgland any other amounts earned but not paid faritarmination
including vacation and sick leave days that haweusd through the date of termination and havébaeh used. Payment
under this subsection (c)(v) shall be made atithe of the Company's standard payroll for the payga that includes the
date of termination of your employment.

(vi) The Company shalbayyou for all reimbursable businesgpenseshat you incur through the date of
termination upon presentatioh appropriatesupporting documentatioRaymenunder this subsection (c)(\8hallbe
made within 10 days following your presentatioraoteptablesupportingdocumentation but no later than December &
the year nextollowing theyearof termination of youremployment.

(d) CauseAs used herein, “Cause” means that you have:

(1) committed gross negligence inmection with your duties as set forth herein oreothse with respect
to the business and affairs of the Company;

(i) committed fraud in connectiontiviyour duties as set forth herein or otherwisd wéspect to the
business and affairs of the Company;

(iir) engaged in “willful misconductVith respect to the business and affairs of the g&mg. For purpose
of this Agreement, “willful misconduct” means misuct committed with actual knowledge that yourcanct
violate directions and instructions of the CEO, ethdlirections and instructions are legal and coeisisvith the
Agreement;




(iv) materially breached your dutieslar this Agreement or failed to materially compigh the
Company’s policies and practices; or

(v) committed an act of moral turpiéy theft, dishonesty or insubordination.

“Cause” shall be found only by a majority of thél Bioard.

(e) Good ReasorAs used herein, “Good Reason” means:

() a material diminution in your base salary;

(i) a material diminution in your authoritguties or responsibilities;

(iii) a material diminution in the authorityutles or responsibilities of the supervisor to whgma report;
(iv) a material diminution in the budget oveniah you retain authority

(V) a material change in the geographic lacatit which you must perform the services; and

(vi) any other action or inaction that conggtia material breach by the Company of this Agesgm

Terminationfor Good Reason may occur only if ($pu give theCEO noticewithin 90 days of thénitial existence of the
condition onwhich Good Reasois based, (Bjhe Companyloes not cure the conditiavithin 30 daysof receivingsuchnotice,
and (C) you terminateithin two yearsfollowing theinitial existenceof the condition.

()  Change in Control As used herein, "Change of Control" shall be d=gbto have occurred if:

@ there is a consolidation or merger of @mmpany in which the Company is not the continuing
surviving corporation; or there is any other mermgeconsolidation if, after such merger or consatiioch shareholders of
the Company immediately prior to such merger orsotidation hold less than 50% of the voting stotke surviving
entity;

(i) there is a sale or transfer of all or stamtially all of the assets of the Company in ona series of
transactions or there is a complete liquidatiodissolution of the Company; or

(iii) any individual or entity or group actinig concert and affiliates thereof, acquires, disect
indirectly, more than 50% of the outstanding shafesting stock of the Company; provided that thibsection (iii) sha
not apply to an underwritten public offering of t@empany's securities.

(99 Compliance with Section 409AThis Agreement shall be interpreted to ensurettfpayments contemplated
hereby to be made by the Company to you are exomt, or comply with, Section 409A of the Code.wéwer, it is your
obligation to pay all required taxes (including daayes under Section 409A) on any payments prowheler this Agreement. Al
payment under this Agreement that is subject tai@ed09A and is contingent upon termination of yemployment shall be
payable




only if such termination qualifies as a "separafimm service" within the meaning of Section 409d regulations promulgated
thereunder. Each such payment shall be consideneel & separate payment for purposes of Sectiof.409

7. Confidentiality/Noncompetition.

As a condition of this Agreement, you agree to ekeand be bound by the terms of the Company's édrm
Confidentiality, Invention Assignment and Non-Cortitien Agreement(s).

8. Term .
The term of this Agreement shall continue for dqukof one year following the Effective Date, urdesarlier terminated
as provided herein, and shall be automaticallywedefor successive one year terms unless the Comgrarou provide written

notice of its or your determination not to renevs thgreement at least 60 days prior to the exiratif the then current term.

9. Miscellaneous Provisions

(@) Notices.All notices and other communications hereunder betwyou and the
Company shall be in writing, shall be addressetiéaeceiving party's address of record (or to saibbr address as a party may
designate by notice hereunder), and shall be giheéelivered by hand, (ii) made by telecopy,)(@ent by overnight courier, or
(iv) sent by certified mail, return receipt requektpostage prepaid.

(b)  Moadifications and Amendment3he terms and provisions of this Agreement magnbdified or amended only by
written agreement executed by the parties hereto.

(c) Waivers and Consentd he terms and provisions of this Agreement mawaieed, or consent for the departure
therefrom granted, only by written document exetiig the party entitled to the benefits of sucimtepr provisions. No such
waiver or consent shall be deemed to be or sha#tdate a waiver or consent with respect to aimgoterms or provisions of this
Agreement, whether or not similar. Each such wabreronsent shall be effective only in the spegifatance and for the purpose
for which it was given, and shall not constituteoatinuing waiver or consent.

(d)  Assignment This Agreement shall inure to the benefit of Berdenforceable by your personal or legal
representatives, executors, administrators, suaredwirs, distributes, devisees and legatees. Agnieement may not be assig
or pledged by you. In the event of the merger misotidation of the Company (whether or not the Canypis the surviving or
resulting corporation), the transfer of all or sialngially all the assets of the Company, or theimtary or involuntary dissolution
of the Company, the surviving or resulting corpmabr the transferee or transferees of the Compasgets shall be bound by
this and the Company shall take all actions necgssansure that such corporation, transfereeamisterees assume and are
bound by its provisions.

(e) Severability. The parties intend this Agreement to be enfoeedritten. However, if any portion or provisioh
this Agreement shall to any extent be declaredall®r unenforceable by a duly authorized cougroper jurisdiction, then the
remainder of this Agreement, or the applicatioswth portion or provision in circumstances othantthose as to which it is so
declared illegal or unenforceable, shall not be@#d thereby, and each portion and provisionisfAlgreement shall be valid and
enforceable to the fullest extent permitted by law.




(H  Choice of Law This Agreement and the rights and obligationthefparties hereunder shall be construed in
accordance with and governed by the law of theeStilNew York, without giving effect to the contiiof law principles thereof.

(g) Entire Agreement This Agreement and your offer letter (as defibetbw) constitute the entire agreement of the
parties hereto with respect to the subject mattezdf and supersede all prior agreements and uaddings of the parties hereto,
oral or written, with respect to the subject maltereof. Notwithstanding the preceding senten@ptbvisions of any Restricted
Stock Agreements and all Option, SAR and Stock Awsgreements (“Awards’yranted pursuant to the 2006 Plan or other F
entered into between you and the Company on orthigeEffective Date hereof, shall constitute aiddil agreements between
Company and you, and the provisions of Sectiongi@ja6(b) and 6(c)(iv) of this Agreement shallnstitute terms of such
Awards, notwithstanding anything to the contrangection 9 of the Plan. As used herein, your “ofégter” refers to the letter
dated May 1, 2014 from Denise Duca to you settowthfcertain terms and conditions applicable torymuaployment with the
Company, a copy of which is attached hereto astiixhi

(h)  Arbitration . Any dispute or controversy between you and the@amy, arising out of or relating to this Agreemen
or the breach of this Agreement, shall be settiedrbitration administered by the American ArbiwatAssociation ("AAA") in
accordance with its Employment Disputes ArbitratRuies then in effect, and judgment on the awandeeed by the arbitrator
may be entered in any court having jurisdictionr¢la& Any arbitration shall be held before a singlkitrator who shall be selec
by the mutual agreement of you and the Companygssrthe parties are unable to agree to an arbjtimatahich case, the
arbitrator will be selected under the procedurehefAAA. The arbitrator shall have the authorayaivard any remedy or relief
that a court of competent jurisdiction could ordegrant, including, without limitation, the issw&nof an injunction. However,
either party may, without inconsistency with thibitration provision, apply to any court havingigdtiction over such dispute or
controversy and seek interim provisional, injunetor other equitable relief until the arbitratiomead is rendered or the
controversy is otherwise resolved. Except as nacgss court proceedings to enforce this arbitraoovision or an award
rendered hereunder, to obtain interim relief, gsired by law, or the party's immediate family &gl and financial advisors,
neither a party nor an arbitrator may disclosestkistence, content or results of any arbitratioretaeder without the prior written
consent of you and the Company. The Company shglbp costs and fees associated with such atibitraincluding all
arbitration fees, the arbitrator's fees, attornégss and all costs.




If the terms of this Agreement are acceptable topglease sign where indicated below. It is undestind acknowledged
that a fax signature will be considered to be valican original.

Very truly yours,

Acorda Therapeurtics, Inc.

By: /s/ Ron Cohen
Its: President & CEO

Date: 4/16/15
Agreed to and accepted:

/s/ Andrew Hindman
Andrew Hindman

Date: 4/16/15




EXHIBIT A

AC®ORDA

T HERAWPEWUTI € 8

May 1, 2014

Andrew Hindman
1020 Vallejo Street

APT 6

San Francisco, CA 94133

Dear Andrew:

| am pleased to confirm our offer of employmenydon as Chief Business Development Officer reportc&on Cohel
President & CEO.

The terms of the offer are as follows:

1.

The salary is $400,000 per annum, payable -monthly on the 1™ and the last business day of
month. The semi-monthly rate is $16,666.66. Ysalary will be subject to annual review. Your wérkation
will be the Company headquarters in Ardsley, NewkY

. You will receive a signing bonus of $100,000.0&vilo separate payments. The first payment of $B00@Owill

be paid to you within the first 30 days of yourrstiate. If you voluntarily terminate without GoBgason
within the first twelve months of employment, yayree to reimburse the Company on a prorated basthéd
first payment of $50,000. The second payment 6fCEH.00 will be paid to you on the one-year amsiagy of
your start date. If you voluntarily terminate vatit Good Reason twelve months from the date o$¢cend
payment, you agree to reimburse the Company oprated basis for the second payment of $50,

. Your start date is May 13, 201

You will be eligible to participate in the Comp¢s benefit plans one month from your hire date. rMmanefits
will be commensurate with the benefits providedtter senior executives at the Compe

. You will also be eligible to participate in the Cpamy s 401(k) plan and Flexible Spending Accounts onathr

from your hire date

. You shall be entitled to all perquisites offeregémior executives of the Company. In additiony gball be

entitled to reimbursement of all ordinary and reedxe out-of-pocket business expenses which atergat by
you in furtherance of the Compé s business, in accordance with its polic




10.

11.

12.

. For 2014, you will be eligible for 15 days of pdiihe off (PTO), all Compar-paid holidays including the wet

the Company is closed between Christmas and New &¥/emnd 2 floating holidays. After 2014, you wakeive
PTO and holidays in accordance with Company pd@ity commensurate with other senior executiveseat th
Company

. You will receive a base grant of 138,840 option&obrda common stock, vesting over four years

accordance with the Company’s standard option greottedures, the first 25% of your options will tvasthe
end of your first 12 months of employment, andrémaining 75% will vest on a quarterly basis over t
remaining three years. The grant date will berdeiteed as of the new hire start date. The strikeepwill be the
market price of the stock at the close of busimesthe date of gran

. You will also receive 46,280 shares of restrictiatls of Acorda common stock, vesting annually cvéoul-

year period as follows: ¥4 of the grant will vestMay 13, 2015, % on May 13, 2016, ¥4 on May 13,7284d ¥
on May 13, 2018. Restricted shares are subjebetadditional terms and conditions of the Acor@éstRcted
Share Certificate approved by the Bo:

You are eligible to receive a special grant of B88,8ptions of Acorda common stock vesting aftee¢hyears o
May 13, 2017. The strike price will be the mangate of the stock at the close of business om#éwe hire start
date. In addition, you will receive 9,256 shareeestricted stock of Acorda common stock, vestftgr three
years on May 13, 2017. Restricted shares aredubj¢he additional terms and conditions of theria
Restricted Share Certificate approved by the Boaithe options and restricted shares under tlgsiapgrant
will not be subject to 100% vesting in the evenad@hange in Contrc

In addition to a year-end performance review, yduhe eligible to participate in the CompasyMerit Increas:
Program, Annual Cash Bonus Program and Acorda ¥E§udgram with a potential to receive a pro-ratestim
increase, cash bonus and equity grant. Your Antash Bonus Program target is 50% of base satatysa
based on the Company’s performance against theoGaigpGoals and individual/team performance against
goals established for that bonus year. Bonust®igelude a possible range of zero and can ext@@% for ar
individual/team goal or in aggregate. Eighty pata# your target is attributed to Company perfonceand
twenty percent is attributed to individual/teamfpenance. The Annual Cash Bonus Program and tloedac
Equity Program are subject to approval by the Baduidirectors. These three programs will be predsbr
your first year of employment or any subsequentigdarear of employmen

You will receive up to three months of temporarysiog at one of the Compé’s designated properties. Y
will also receive assistance with permanent housindew York and commuting expenses to and from
California, such as flight accommodations, notxoeed an aggregate $35,000. If within the firglti® months
of employment, you voluntarily terminate your emyteent




with the Company, you agree to reimburse the Comfpansuch relocation expenses and temporary living
expenses on a prorated basis. All expenses as=bgigh relocation are grossed-up for taxes ardelftected
in your W2 at year end.

13. You shall be entitled to the same indemnificatiad ansurance coverage that other senior execuaie
employees receive pursuant to the Company’s Gatéiof Incorporation, Bylaws, customary Indemiaificn
Agreement and insurance policies, all as currantiffect, and applicable la

14. Within the first thirty days of employment, you e given an Employment Agreement with terms idcig,
but not limited to, terms contained in the Employpt&greement of Michael Rogers dated October 732

15. To comply with INS regulations, please bring withuyon your first day of work, proof verifying yotight to
work in the United States. Some examples are passpiver’s license and Social Security cardgertificate
of citizenship, etc

16. If you accept employment with the Company, you aksdify that the information that you have provddae
Company in connection with your submission for esgpient is true and complete. You understand thatiu
provided false or misleading information to the Q@amy during the course of the interview or appiarat
process it may result in disciplinary action u@tw including termination of your employment at géinye.

17. By accepting this offer, you represent that yourarea party to any employment agreement that wintiédfere
with your employment with Acorda Therapeutics, Intyou are a party to any agreement that contairys
restrictive provisions (confidentiality, non-comegbr otherwise) that potentially interfere withuyo
employment with Acorda, you must notify me of theggeements and the relevant provisions, and textent
possible, submit copies of the agreements. Ther agfcontingent upon a review of these agreenpards to
your starting date so that Acorda can make an iexaggnt determination for its own purposes (andmbe
considered advice to you) regarding the legal aeds in these agreements and whether they profuhbit
employment with Acorde

18. This letter is not intended, nor should it be cdased, as an employment contract for a definit@aefinite
period. Once employed, you will be an employeeitt This letter also constitutes the understagdoetween
us with respect to our offer of employment, andaegs and supersedes any previous understandings or
arrangements

Andrew, we are delighted to extend this offer to.yo

If you are in agreement with the terms outlinedveh@lease sign and date one copy of this lettératurn it to me at
your earliest convenience.




Should you have any questions regarding any oéltoee or any other matter, please contact me. eldyphone numb
(914) 326-5159. You can email me at dduca@acarda.c

Sincerely,

/s/ Denise J. Duca

Denise J. Duca
Sr. Vice President - Human Resources

CC: Ron Cohen, President & CEO
Accepted:

/s/ AndrewHindman 5/13/14
Signature Date







EXHIBIT 31.1

CERTIFICATION BY THE CHIEF EXECUTIVE OFFICER PURSUA NT TO
RULE 13a-14(a) UNDER THE SECURITIES EXCHANGE ACT OF 1934

I, Ron Cohen, certify that:

1.

2.

| have reviewed this quarterly report on Forn-Q of Acorda Therapeutics, In

Based on my knowledge, this report does not cor@aynuntrue statement of a material fact or omg#itéde a material fact necessary tc
make the statements made, in light of the circuntgtsiunder which such statements were made, nistadisg with respect to the
period covered by this repo

Based on my knowledge, the financial statementsoéimer financial information included in this repdairly present in all material
respects the financial condition, results of operatand cash flows of the registrant as of, amdtfe periods presented in this rep

The registrant’s other certifying officer(s) andrke responsible for establishing and maintainisgldsure controls and procedures (as
defined in Exchange Act Rules 13a-15(e) and 15&))%nd internal control over financial reportirag defined in Exchange Act
Rules 13-15(f) and 15-15(f)) for the registrant and hav

a) Designed such disclosure controls and proceduregused such disclosure controls and procedures tiesigned under our
supervision, to ensure that material informatidatieg to the registrant, including its consolidhtibsidiaries, is made
known to us by others within those entities, pattdy during the period in which this report isfg prepared

(b) Designed such internal control over financial réjpgr, or caused such internal control over finahi@gorting to be designed
under our supervision, to provide reasonable assareegarding the reliability of financial repodgiand the preparation of
financial statements for external purposes in ataoce with generally accepted accounting princijy

C) Evaluated the effectiveness of the registrant’sldsire controls and procedures and presentedsimgport our conclusions
about the effectiveness of the disclosure contintsprocedures, as of the end of the period cousyeldis report based on
such evaluation; an

d) Disclosed in this report any change in the regigtsanternal control over financial reporting thatcurred during the
registrant’s most recent fiscal quarter (the regrsts fourth fiscal quarter in the case of an aimaport) that has materially
affected, or is reasonably likely to materiallyeaft, the registra’s internal control over financial reporting; &

The registrant’s other certifying officer(s) anddve disclosed, based on our most recent evaluatimriernal control over financial
reporting, to the registrant’s auditors and theitte@mmittee of the registrastboard of directors (or persons performing thevaden!
functions):

a) All significant deficiencies and material weaknesigethe design or operation of internal contratiofimancial reporting
which are reasonably likely to adversely affectrigistrant’s ability to record, process, summasiad report financial
information; anc

b) Any fraud, whether or not material, that involveamagement or other employees who have a significéein the
registran’s internal control over financial reportir

Date: May 8, 2015

/s/ RoN COHEN

Ron Cohen
Chief Executive Officer
(Principal Executive Officer)



EXHIBIT 31.2

CERTIFICATION BY THE CHIEF FINANCIAL OFFICER PURSUA NT TO
RULE 13a-14(a) UNDER THE SECURITIES EXCHANGE ACT OF 1934

I, Michael Rogers, certify that:

1.

2.

| have reviewed this quarterly report on Forn-Q of Acorda Therapeutics, In

Based on my knowledge, this report does not cor@aynuntrue statement of a material fact or omg#itéde a material fact necessary tc
make the statements made, in light of the circuntgtsiunder which such statements were made, nistadisg with respect to the
period covered by this repo

Based on my knowledge, the financial statementsoéimer financial information included in this repdairly present in all material
respects the financial condition, results of operatand cash flows of the registrant as of, amdtfe periods presented in this rep

The registrant’s other certifying officer(s) andrke responsible for establishing and maintainisgldsure controls and procedures (as
defined in Exchange Act Rules 13a-15(e) and 15&))%nd internal control over financial reportirag defined in Exchange Act
Rules 13-15(f) and 15-15(f)) for the registrant and hav

a) Designed such disclosure controls and proceduregused such disclosure controls and procedures tiesigned under our
supervision, to ensure that material informatidatieg to the registrant, including its consolidhtibsidiaries, is made
known to us by others within those entities, pattdy during the period in which this report isfg prepared

b) Designed such internal control over financial réjpgr, or caused such internal control over finahi@gorting to be designed
under our supervision, to provide reasonable assareegarding the reliability of financial repodgiand the preparation of
financial statements for external purposes in ataoce with generally accepted accounting princijy

C) Evaluated the effectiveness of the registrant’sldsire controls and procedures and presentedsimgport our conclusions
about the effectiveness of the disclosure contintsprocedures, as of the end of the period cousyeldis report based on
such evaluation; an

d) Disclosed in this report any change in the regigtsanternal control over financial reporting thatcurred during the
registrant’s most recent fiscal quarter (the regrsts fourth fiscal quarter in the case of an aimaport) that has materially
affected, or is reasonably likely to materiallyeaft, the registra’s internal control over financial reporting; &

The registrant’s other certifying officer(s) anddve disclosed, based on our most recent evaluatimriernal control over financial
reporting, to the registrant’s auditors and theitte@mmittee of the registrastboard of directors (or persons performing thevaden!
functions):

a) All significant deficiencies and material weaknesigethe design or operation of internal contratiofimancial reporting
which are reasonably likely to adversely affectrigistrant’s ability to record, process, summasiad report financial
information; anc

b) Any fraud, whether or not material, that involveamagement or other employees who have a significéein the
registran’s internal control over financial reportir

Date: May 8, 2015

/s/ MICHAEL ROGERS

Michael Rogers
Chief Financial Officer
(Principal Financial Officer)



EXHIBIT 32.1

CERTIFICATION PURSUANT TO
18 U.S.C. SECTION 1350,
AS ADOPTED PURSUANT TO SECTION 906
OF THE SARBANES-OXLEY ACT OF 2002

In connection with the Quarterly Report on FormQ@f Acorda Therapeutics, Inc. (the “Company”) floe fiscal quarter ended
March 31, 2015, as filed with the Securities andiange Commission on the date hereof (the “RepdstRon Cohen, Chief Executive Offic
of the Company, hereby certify, pursuant to 18 O.Section 1350, as adopted pursuant to SectioroBie Sarbane®xley Act of 2002, tha

(1) The Report fully complies with the requirementsSefction 13(a) or 15(d), as applicable, of the SeearExchange Act of 1934,
as amended; ar

(2) The information contained in the Report fairly mets, in all material respects, the financial cbadiand results of operations of
the Company

/s RON COHEN

RON COHEN

Chief Executive Officer
(Principal Executive Officer)
May 8, 2015

[A signed original of this written statement reauirby Section 906 of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2t82been provided to Acorda

Therapeutics, Inc. and will be retained by Acord@rBpeutics, Inc. and furnished to the SecuritiesEExchange Commission or its staff upon
request.]



EXHIBIT 32.2

CERTIFICATION PURSUANT TO
18 U.S.C. SECTION 1350,
AS ADOPTED PURSUANT TO SECTION 906
OF THE SARBANES-OXLEY ACT OF 2002

In connection with the Quarterly Report on FormQ@f Acorda Therapeutics, Inc. (the “Company”) floe fiscal quarter ended
March 31, 2015, as filed with the Securities andtiange Commission on the date hereof (the “Repdrtijichael Rogers, Chief Financial

Officer of the Company, hereby certify, pursuant®U.S.C. Section 1350, as adopted pursuant tioBe306 of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act of
2002, that:

(1) The Report fully complies with the requirementsSefction 13(a) or 15(d), as applicable, of the SgearExchange Act of 1934,
as amended; ar

(2) The information contained in the Report fairly mets, in all material respects, the financial cbodiand results of operations of
the Company

/sl MICHAEL ROGERS
MICHAEL ROGERS

Chief Financial Officer
(Principal Financial Officer)
May 8, 2015

[A signed original of this written statement recuairby Section 906 of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2@§®2been provided to Acorda

Therapeutics, Inc. and will be retained by Acord@rBpeutics, Inc. and furnished to the SecuritiesEExchange Commission or its staff upon
request.]



